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DISCLAIMER

This report comprises three secticns and should be read in conjunction with the investor presentation,
issued at the same time as this report and is available on request from invesior relations@ardonagh.corm.

Section 1: Business review for the year ended 31 Decermber 2022. Financial information in Section 1 has been
presented on Reported and Pro Forma bases. Information shown on & Reported basis is presented in
accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards as adopted by the United Kingdom (IFRSs as
adopted by the UK) with acquisitions, disposals and refinancing transactions reflected from the date the
acquisition or refinancing completed.

Section 2: Audited consolidated financial statements for the year ended 31 Decermber 2022, information
presented in this section is in accordance with IFRS as adopted by the UK with acquisitions, disposals and
refinancing transactions reflected from the date the acquisition or refinancing completed.

Section 3: Other unaudited financial information provides detailed reconciliations between Reported and
Pro Forma results and a glossary of terms. Pro Forma for Completed Transactions is presented as if
significant acquisitions, disposals, loan asset investrnents and refinancing transactions cccurred on the first
day of the prior calendar year and therefore current and prior peried information is presented on a like-for-
like basis to enable meaningful comparisons to be made. The significant acquisitions included in the Pro
Forma for Completed Transactions information are the acquisitions of Lorega Holdings Limited (completed
1 July 2022), Stuart Insurances Limited, Murphy Stuart Insurances Limited and Stuart Insurances (South
East) Limited ("Stuarts Insurances”) {completed 1 July 2022), Leobros BV {completed 3 October 2022), Frank
Glennon Ltd {completed 1 December 2022) and MDS Greoup (completed 2 December 2022}

In 2021, the significant acquisitions included in the Pro Forma for Completed Transactions information are
the acquisitions of Headley Holdings Limited (completed 5 January 2021}, Resilium Pty Limited (completed
15 February 2021), Hera Indemnity Limited {completed 2 March 2021}, AccuRisk Holdings LLC {completed
30 March 2027}, the business and assets of Hemsley Wynne Furlenge LLP (completed 31 March 2021},
Marmalade Limited (completed 31 March 2021), Drayton Ins. Limited (completed 1June 2021), Brian J Pierce
Limited {completed 2 July 2021}, Usay Group Limited {completed 1 September 2021), Starlingspell Limited
and O'Donoghue Hooper Dolan Insurances Limited (both completed | October 2021), and Ed Broking
Group Limited and Besso Insurance Group Limited (both completed on 1 November 2021).
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SECTION 1

ARDONAGH MIDCO 2 PLC

DIRECTORS REPORT, STRATEGIC REPORT AND
CORPORATE GOVERANCE REPORT

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2022



DIRECTORS' REPORT FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2022

The Directors present their Directors' Report, Strategic Report and the audited financial statements for the
year ended 31 December 2022. The Corporate Covernance Report is also set out on pages 19 to 30 and
forms part of this report.

General information and principal activities

Ardonagh Midco 2 Plc (the Company) is a company limited by shares with registered number 10679958
incorporated in England and Wales on 20 March 2017 The address of its registered office is 2 Minster Court,
Mincing Lane, London, EC3R 7PD.

The Company is a holding company which provides management and other support services for its
subsidiaries that cperate primarily to distribute insurance products. The Company together with its
subsidiaries and associated companies s referred to as the Group.

Information regarding the ultimate parent company can be found in note 33 of the consolidated financial
statements.

Share capital and dividends
The issued share capital of the Company, together with details of shares issued during the peried is shown
in note 30 to the consolidated financial staterments.

The Directors have not paid or proposed any dividends in respact of the period.

Financial risk management objectives and policies
Details of financial risk management objectives and policies can be found in the Corporate Governance
Report within the ‘Principal risks and uncertainties' section on pages 26 1o 30.

Directors
The Directors who held office during the period and up te the date of signing were as follows:

A 'S Babikian (appointed 31 May 2022)

C Bouch (resigned 31 May 2022)

P N Butler

D Cougill

V A Dombalagian

S French

MW Raino (appointed cn 31 May 2022}
D C Ross

M Scrivens {appointed 21 October 2022)
JiTiner

Directors' Indemnities

Directors and Officers of the Company and its subsidiaries benefit from qualifying third-party indemnity
provisions in place during the financial period and at the date of this report. The Group had no gualifying
pensiocn scheme indemnity provisions for the benefit of one or more directors of the Company, or directors
of an associated company.

Future developiments
Information regarding the Group's business activities, including factors likely to affect its future
development and performance, are set out in the Strategic Report.

Employees

The Company is an egual cpportunities employer and bases decisiocns on an individual's ability regardless
of race, gender, religion, age or disability. Applications for employment from disabled persons are always
fully considered having regard to their particular skills and technical ability. Cnce employed, a career plan
is developed to ensure that suitable opportunities exist for each disabled person. Should an employee
become disabled, every effort is made to maintain the services of an employee; for example, through
training, the provision of special equipment and reduced working hours. The Company is prepared to
modify proceduraes or equipment, wherever practicable, so that full use can be made of an individual's
abilities.



DIRECTORS REPORT FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2022

Streamlined Energy and Carbon Reporting {"SECR")

For the year ended 31 December 2022 and in accordance with the 2018 Regulations, we have reported cur
energy consumption, energy efficiency and greenhouse gas emissions on page 17 of the Nan-Financial and
Sustainability Information Staternent in the Strategic Report.

S172 Disclosure

The 172(1) Statement requiras directors to disclose how they have met their duties under section 172 of the
Companies Act 2006, This is set out in the Corporate Governance Report on page 20 and incorporates how
the Directors have considered the needs of suppliers, customers and other stakeholders. The Directors
continue Lo apply the Wates Principles as Jdist.lused on page 20.

Research and development

The Croup invests in R&D activity to augment its ability to compete in insurance intermediary markets, with
focus on improving the customer experience, product innovation and regulatory compliance. R&D activity
across the Croup includes policy administration systerm development, pricing applications and the
development of preduct-specific packages.

Charitable & Political contributions
The Group made no charitable donations or political contributions during the period.

SUbseqguent events
Details of subsequent events can be found in note 35 to the Consclidated Financial Statements.

Disclosure of information te auditor

The Directorswho held office at the date of approval of this report confirm that, so far as they are each aware,
there is no relevant audit information of which the Company's auditor is unaware, and each Director has
taken all the steps that they ought to have taken as Directors to make themselves aware of any relevant
audit information and to establish that the Company's auditor is aware of that information.

Reappointment of auditor
Deloitte LLP have expressed their willingness to continue in office as auditor and a resolution to reappoint
them will be proposed at the forthcoming Annual Ceneral Meeting.

Approved by the Board and signed on its behalf by:

D Cougill
Director

30 June 2023



STRATEGCIC REPORT FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2022:
Principal activities and business review

The Ardonagh Midco 2 PLC ('the Company') together with its subsidiaries and associated companies, (‘The
Croup'}, is a leading independent global insurance distribution business connecting clients and premium
to global capital through best-in-class entrepreneurial and specialist brands with a network of more than
150 locations. Across our portfolio, we offer a highly diversified range of insurance-related products and
services. From complex multinational corporations to individuals purchasing personal insurance policies,
our understanding of our clients, together with our scale and breadth, allows us to work with our insurer
partners to deliver a broad range of product and risk solutions that meet customer needs.

Launched in 2017, Ardonagh strives to foster innovation and empower the highly experienced leadership
teams of its specialist platforms while encouraging cellaboration and harnessing benefits of scale and the
Croup's collective experience. The Ardonagh Midco 2 Group has grown through a combination of sustained
focus on driving organic growth, operational excellence and a selective and disciplined acqguisition
programime.

Ardonagh operates through four industry-leading platforms, each trading through leading customer-
facing brands. Ardonagh Advisary is an advice-led, community-fecused set of businesses with an unrivalled
local footprint of experts across sectors and specialisrns, with national and international reach that includes
the largest independent general insurance SME broker in the UK Ardonagh Specialty is the largest
independent wholesale broker in the London Market with offices around the globe and several specialist
brands. Ardonagh Internationai is our rapidly growing platform comprised of Ardonagh Europe, Ardonagh
Global Partners and Ardonagh Capital Solutions with a foctprint across Europe, Australia, Brazil, and
Bermuda. Cur Ardonagh Retail platform houses UK digital-focused personal lines brands which offer home,
motor and pet insurance alongside a range of specialist personal and small business insurance products.
The Group also maintains a non-operating segment comprising primarily interestincome and central costs,
including Croup board costs and Croup function costs.

Our major shareholders are funds managed, advised or controlled by Madison Dearborn Partners, LLC
"MDP" and HPS Investment Partners, LLC ("HPS") that together hold a combined equity stake of more
than 93% on 31 December 2022 and have significant investment experience in the insurance sector.

MDP, based in Chicago, is a leading private equity investment firm. Since MDP's formation in 1992, the firm
has raised eight funds with aggregate capital commitments of over USD 28 killien and has completed
investrments in over 150 companies. MDP has five dedicated teams that have long and successful track
records of investing in their respective sectors: Basic industries, Business & Government Software and
Services; Financial & Transaction Services; Health Care; and Telecom, Media & Technology Services. Funds
managed by MDP are a lead investor in NFP Corp., a US-based insurance broker/consultant, The Amynta
Croup, a leading provider of warranty and specialty insurance solutions in North America, and Navacord
Inc., a Canadian based insurance and risk rmanagement brokerage firm.

HPS is a global investrment firm with USD 27 billion of assets under management as of January 2023 HPS
was founded in 2007 and manages various strategies that invest across the capital structure, from
syndicated leveraged loans and high yield bonds to privately negotiated senior secured debt and
rmezzanine investments, asset-based leasing and private equity. The scale and breadth of the HPS platform
offers the flexibility to invest in companies both large and small, through standard or custemised solutions.
HPS is headguartered in New York with fifteen offices worldwide and has 193 investment professionals and
over 550 employees giobally.

As part of a significant new eguity investment rmade by our current shareholders announced on 15
December 2021 and completed an 31 May 2022, the former ultimate parent company (The Ardonagh Croup
Limited [TAGLY) that owned the Ardonagh Midco 2 Group changed. On 8 December 2021 both AGHL and
the current ultimate parent company of the Company, Tara Topco Limited (Tara’) were incorporated. The
new eguity investment resulted in the former Ardonagh holding company, TAGL, merging into Tara on 31
May 2022. Following this merger, Ardonagh Croup Holdings Ltd acquired Ardonagh New Midco 3 Limited
("NM3L", including the group of companies previously ownea by TACL, on 1 June 2022 There were nc
changes to the Ardonagh Midco 2 Group activities, which continue to be overseen by the Company

Ardonagh Midco 2 PLC is a holding company and is not regulated. Various subsidiaries of the Croup are
regulated, as required, 1o conduct their business.



STRATEGIC REPORT FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2022:
Highlights and financial key performance indicators
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STRATEGIC REPORT FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2022:
Highlights and financial key performance indicators

The financial information contained in this Section 1 and Section 3 has been presented on Reported and
Pro Forma bases.

Information shown on a Reported basis is presented in accordance with International Financial
Reporting Standards as adopted by the United Kingdom (IFRSs as adopted by the UK) with acquisitions,
disposals and refinancing transactions reflected from the date the acquisition or refinancing comupleted.

Pro Forma measures are used in addition to IFRS measures to improve comparability. Pro-farma for
Completed Transactions information is presented as if significant acquisitions, disposals, loan asset
investments and refinancing transactions occurred on the first day of the prior calendar year and
therefore current and pricr period information is presented on a like-for-like basis to enable meaningfui
comparisons o be made.

EBITDA and Adjusted EBITDA are used by the business as an indication of the underlying profitability.
Certain costs have been excluded from Adjusted EBITDA, as set cutin the reconciliations in Section 3,10
better reflect expected ongoing performance.

Definitions of KPIs and other alternative performance measures (APMs) are set out in the glossary of
terms in Section 3.



STRATEGCIC REPORT FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2022:
Performance review

Financial Performance

The Croup benefits from being highly diversified across geographies, products and customer types.

Reported Pro Forma Midco 2

2022 2021 Change 2022 2021 Change

£m £rm £m £Em £m £fm

Total Income 1,232.0 9458 2862 13553 126472 911
Adjusted EBITDA 3734 3203 531 4119 3976 14.3
EBITDA 2698 2244 454 3209 2914 295
Operating profit 76.5 1027 {26.2) 1093 126.9 (17.6)
Loss for the year (280.8) {71.2) (208.9) (269.4) {100.3) (162.7)

Reported results
These are as stated in the above table with Total Income of £1,232.0m translating into an Cperating Profit of
£76.5m and Adjusted EBITDA of £373.4m.

Acquisitions completed by the Group are included in the results from the date they were acquired with the
details included in the Business Combinations note 14.

Adjusted EBITDA excludes non-recurring expenditure specific to the Group's transformation initiatives
including acquisition and financing costs, regulatory costs, transformational hires, business transformation,
and other one-off costs.

Total Income increased by £2862m to £1,232.0m (2021 £945.8m). Growth has been achieved through a
combination of acquisitions and crganic growth YTD driven by the Internaticnal, Specialty and Advisory
platforms.

Adjusted EBITDA increased by £24.2m to £411.9m (2021: £397.6m). Earnings growth has been achieved
through a combination of acquisitions and organic growth in all platforms apart from Retall, with income
growth and the delivery of cost savings and synergies offsetting inflationary pressures.

EBITDA increased by £45.4m to £269.8m (2021 £224.4m). This reflects the impact of acquisitions combined
with the increase in Total Income, disciplined cost containment and strong delivery of the cost reduction
programmes across all platforms.

Operating profit decreased by £262m to £765m (2021 £102.7m). This reflects the increase in EBITDA of
£45.4m less an increase in finance income due to interest received on external loans of £135m (which is
included within EBITDA but not operating prefit) and a £583m increase in depreciation, amortisation
charges and impairment of gocdwill as a result of acquisitions in 2021, Other non material offset of £0.2m.

Loss for the period increased by (F208.2m) to (£280.8m) (2021 £71.9m) reflecting the decrease in operating
profit of £26.2m, increase in finance income due to interest received on external loans of £13.5m, and increase
intaxcredit of £22.4m.Thisis offset by an increase in finance costs of £216.8m (this is due to foreign exchange
fluctuations resulting in an additional £110.6m expense on the revaluation of the borrowings, increased
borrowings and increases in base interest rates resulting in an additional £81.4m of interest expense,
modification gain on amendment of borrowings of £44.2m in 2021 and increased unwinding of transaction
costs znd discounts on fimnancial liabilities of £20.9m, offset by saving £35.0m in amounts reclassified as
cashflow hedging reserve and savings of £42m in changes in share puyout and other small amounts of
£1.0m) and business transformation costs increase of £13.5m and changes in foreign exchange gains.

Adetailed reconciliation between Reported and Pro Forma Midco 2 results can be found in Section 3 of this
report.



STRATEGIC REPORT FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2022:
Performance review

Financial Position
The Group's Statement of Financial Positicn as at 31 December 2022 is presented below.
(As restated)*

Year ended Year ended

31 December 31 December

2022 2020

Extracts from the Statement of Financial Position £m £m
Intangible assets 2,775.6 23323
Property, plant and equipment 336 29.4
Other non-current assets 1433 170.7
Non-current assets 29525 2532.4
Cash and cash equivalents 12273 13353
Current assets - excluding cash and cash equivalents™ 9523 7512
Current liabilities {1,867.6) (1,719.9)
Net current assets 312.0 3666
Non-current liabilities {3,376.0) (2,816.8)
Net (liabilities)/assets (111.4) 822

*Prior year restaterment due to the correction of a share buy-back in @ subsidiary entity.

Ligquidity and Capital Resources

Proactive and careful management of our liquidity continues toc be a key pricrity for the Group, utilising
both medium (12 months rolling) and short-term {13 weeks rolling) forecasts. This forecasting gives the
Croup visibility around any potential liguidity constraints, and management is confident that the Group will
continue to meet expected cash outflows and debt covenant requirements while maintaining a liguidity
buffer to manage any variability in terms of timing and amounts.

The rmain debt facilities of the Group are the GBP, USD and EUR privately placed term facilities due 2026
{B1, B2 B3, B4 and BS facilities) and the USD PIK toggle notes due 2027, reflected in these consolidated
financial statements on an amortised cost basis where drawn (note 27). As noted below, the BS CAR facility
had not been entered into as at 31 December 2022,

On 14 October 2022 EUR 45.0m was drawn from the B3 facility and EUR 26.6m was drawn from the B4
facility. On 30 November 2022 a further EUR 142.3m was drawn from the B3 Facility and a further EUR
213.4m was drawn from the B4 Facility. Consequently, as at the reporting date the B3 CBP CAR Facility and
the B4 EUR CAR Facility are both fully drawn.

As at the reporting date the Group had a further debt facility of AUD 40.0m of which AUD 14.0m (£8.0m)
had been drawn at 31 December 2022

On 9 January 2023 the Group secured a new USD 365m B5 CAR Facility. On 30 January 2023 the Croup drew
USD 1825m of the new BS Facility for the completion of the Envest Pty Limited {Envest’) acquisition. In
addition, an AUD 200.0m privately placed syndicated facility due 2028 was agreed by an Australian
subsidiary as part of the funding for the Envest acquisition which completed on 2 February 2023, This AUD
200.0m debt facility was fully drawn and all existing local facilities in Australia were repaid on completion of
the Envest acquisition

As at the issue date, the Croup’s £1915m revolving cradit facility ("RCF") is undrawn and the USD 1825m
balance of the USD B5 CAR Facility also remains undrawn. In addition to this, net equity proceeds of GBP
1349m were received in January 2023 and CBP 187.4m in March 2023 from the Croup's ultimate
shareholder.

On 23 June 2023 the Croup secured a new USD 460m B6 CAR facility, which is undrawn at the reporting
date.



STRATEGIC REPORT FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2022:
Performance review

31 3

December December

Carrying value of debt 2022 2021
£m £m

RCF ({GBP) - GBP 191.5m revclving credit facility due 2026 - -
BT {CBP) facility - GOF L4028 termn facility due 2026 1,445 |, 445,
B1 (EUR) facility - EUR 180.0m Term facility due 2026 163.0 154.8
B2 (CBP) facility - CBP 300.0m CAR facility due 2026 3021 3021
B3 (USD) facility - USD 540.0m CAR facility due 2026 440.4 3991
B3 (EUR) facility - EUR 187.3m CAR facility due 2026 1658 -
B4 (EUR]) facility - EUR 240.0m CAR facility due 2026 212.4 -
USD 500.0m PIK toggle Notes due 2027 529.4 4183
Adjustment to debt carrying value (1327 (148.0)
Total carrying value of debt 31327 2574

In addition to the above the Group has a further debt facility of AUD 40.0m of which AUD 14.0m (£7.2m)
has been drawn at 31 December 2022. The AUD debt has been converted to CBP at the 31 December 2022

foreign exchange rate of 1.77428.

Cash balances and available liquidity

31 31

December December

2022 20721

£m £m

Cwn funds 2626 4113
Cwn funds - restricted 489 51.7
Fiduciary 908.8 872.5
Total Cash 1,22773 13353
Less fiduciary and restricted (957.7) (924.0)
Available Cash 262.6 4N3
Available RCF 1915 1915
Available CAR - 1643
Availlable Liguidity 461.1 7671

10



STRATEGIC REPORT FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2022:
Non-Financial and Sustainability Information Statement

Our Approach to Sustainability

During the past 12 months we have considered the key ESC matters in aspects of our UK business,
advanced our strategies and commenced embedding policy. CQur non-UK operations will be included in
the focus of our work in 2023. In 2022 we continued to embed sustainability initiatives in-line with our five-
pillar strategic approach.

1. Integrity: we are committed to upholding the highest ethical standards among our executives,
employees, and business partners, while addressing compliance and ethics risks related to our
business,

2. Innovaticn: we believe the insurance sector needs to take a more innovative and proactive role in
multiple areas, as otherwise climate risk will have a profound impact on insurability and pricing of
certain assets or events, potentially rendering therm uninsurable in the long run.

3. People: we need highly skilled people in our industry to maximise our perfermance and the value we
can deliver for clients. Our talent needs to feel nurtured and that they are working for an industry that
has a strong sense of purpose — especially concerning ESG factors.

4. Society: we recognise social sustginability is about managing the positive and negative impacts our
business has on society and on the communities that we serve. Ardonagh seeks to manage its business
in a responsible way that supports our society, including giving back to the communities that we both
work and live in.

5. Environment: we believe that we, and the insurance industry as a whole, must play a more critical role
in combating the climate crisis and improving sustainability. We are supportive of a risk aware world,
where the insurance industry is trusted and plays its full role in enabling a healthy, safe, resilient and
sustainable society

Cur sustainability strategies are evolving and we are committed to enhancing our approach to consider
the growing needs of the business and the expectations of external stakeholders. Looking after our
customers’ and our communities’ neads, employing great people, and ensuring they flourish, tackling the
challenges of reducing carbon emissions and maintaining a reputation for having high standards of
governance are the foundations of our long-term success.

We have become a signatory to the UNEPFI| Principles for Sustainable Insurance (PSl). The purpose of the
PSl initiative is to better understand, prevent and reduce environmental, social and governance risks, and
better manage opportunities to provide guality and reliable risk protection. We are making progress in
rolling these principles out across our businesses.

Principle 1. we will embed in our decision-making ESC issues refevant to our insurance business.
- ESG related matters continue to be rolled out and embedded across our platforms.

Principle 2: we will work together with our clients and business partners to raise awareness of ESG issues,

manage risk and develop solutions.

- OQur policies and processes are being adapted to further ESG related matters, and we are raising
awareness within our tearms in order that maore Informed conversations can be held with our
stakeholders.

Principle 3 we will work together with governments, regulators and other key stakeholders to promote

widespread action across society on ESG issues

- We are working diligently with our investors, partners and wider stakeholders to promote good ESC
practices as well as developing knowledge in ESC and climate matters.

Principle 4 we will demonstrate accountability and transparency by regularly disclosing publicly our

progress in implementing the principles.

- Inaddition tothe information provided in this annual report and accounts and our sustainability repart
published on the Ardonagh website, we will provide an annual progress review on the anniversary of
our signing.

11



STRATEGIC REPORT FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2022:
Non-Financial and Sustainability Information Statement

The Group's employees

Good progress has been made within our People capital Pillar in 2022. In line with our focus on sustainability
we launched the Ardonagh Academy programme in May based on our sustainable ieadership ethos,
including a Croup wide mentoring programme with mentors having been trained on our approach. There
has also been significant focus on both leadership team developrment with the purpose of working together
to leave things better than they are found. Finally, our graduate development programme was launched
whirh hos o strang linde tn giving back to the communnities wathinowhich sao nperato

We ran our employee engagement survey again in 2022, continuing 1o see a positive engagerment score
across the Group, as illustrated in the strong responses received to our Inclusion and Belonging guestions
set from managers and non-managers, those working at home, in an office or in a hybrid arrangement and
at different lengths of service. When viewing the responses from the survey through a gender identity lens
there was little variation across groups in their response scores, which was encouraging to see.

Our wellbeing initiatives continued to gather pace adding a financial wellbeing offering in the UK to our
established mental and physical wellbeing approach. Our commitment to mental heaith and wellbeing
continues and we ensure that our colleagues have access to Mental Health First Alders through our
ongoing programme of training and internal networking. The financial wellbeing offer was launched
initialty with a pilot at the beginning of the year and then launched across the UK in Q4 2022

In addition to our People Management pelicies (including Equality & Diversity, and Training and
Competency) and Remuneration and Accountability policies, we continue to work hard to develop our
flexible working and family friendly policies piloting new ways of working in different tusinesses and
sharing best practice across the Group.

Social matters

Ardonagh supports communities, both inside and outside the workplace. We ensure that our impact is a
positive one by generating opportunities for colleagues to give back to the causes they care about as well
as supporting them to learn from one another. As the Croup continues to grow internationally, it is equally
important to enable colleagues worldwide to give back through our volunteering programme and to be
able to measure our impact in the broadest sense. Our commitment to ensuring these opportunities are
available to all is at the heart of our ongoing strategy.

- Akeyfocus for 2022 was to ensure the future of the Ardonagh Community Trust {ACT} and that itwould
continue to enable us to use this platform for supporting cur communities. We celebrated five-years of
ACT with a fund-raising Gala Dinner where coileagues, industry partners and Friends of ACT gathered
to celebrate the charity's achievernents and protect the support we currently provide. As well as raising
funds for ACT, the gala dinner also raised funds for Cancer Fund for Children, raising £130,000 for Daisy
Lodge County Mayo.

- Community Grant Funding 34 projects shared £157,960 including; LGBTQ+ floorball in Scotiand, a
teddy bear hospital in Glasgow, improving a local dog park in the USA, therapy sessions for cancer
patients in NE England, father and family football sessions for those with experience in baby loss and a
rowing programme for Deaf and Disabled in London.

- Partnership: Celebrated our one-year anniversary with the Samaritans, This partnership has been well
received by colleagues enabling more open conversations about mentat health across our Mental
Health First Aider network and the wider Ardonagh Midco 2 Group. We also were able to hit our
£100,000 fundraising target thanks to our colleagues and their generosity.

- Bright Future Prize; Our second year saw a trebling in applications for this young person prize and an
increase in the prize fund to £40,000. Four new prize categorties were added, all connected to
Ardonagh’s sustainability goals. Applications were received from teenagers around the world with ideas
ranging from apps to connect young people with cutting edge researchers, to workshops to help
students with special educational needs.

ACT has continued to gain traction as the Group grows by working within the wider communities around
the globe through our pillars. Changes have been made to the Bright Future Prize, aligning the focus to
Ardonagh's key areas for ESG; Innovation, Society, People and Envircnment. We zlso ensured, as an
international Group, the prize was premoted wherever our colleague-base exists in the world.

12



STRATEGIC REPORT FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2022:
Non-Financial and Sustainability Information Statement

Human rights

Ardonagh is committed to protecting the human rights of our employees and those working in ocur supply
chain. Human rights are covered within our annual declarations regarding modern slavery as well as our
operational response to the Human Rights Act 1998. Qur appreach ensures that human rights are
respected and that operations are monitored to ensure no acts of modern slavery or hurman trafficking are
taking place in our business, contractors and outsourcers

Anti-corryption and anti-bribery matters

We foster strong corporate governance and acting with integrity is a core facet of our culture, We have
built ethical conduct and behavioural integrity intc our corporate objectives, corporale governance
framework and Ardonagh Accountability, Risk & Compliance (ARC) Framework so it is embedded
throughout our organisation from Beard tables to process-level contrals. The ARC includes our Code of
Conduct which requires all pecople at Ardonagh to work with Integrity. This is supported by a wide-ranging
framework which evidences and incentivises good behaviours. It also provides for potential misconduct to
pe promptly identified. The framework covers customer commitments, with policies covering risk
management and compliance, product and distribution, financial crime, complaints, errors and omissions,
conflicts of interest as well as whistleblowing. The frarmework is built arcund ensuring and evidencing good
customer outcomes and sets standards for the good treatment of staff and for running sustainable and
well-managed business operations, with policies covering IT, cyber, data governance, procurement and
supplier relationship management. Anti-corruption and bribery matters are dealt with via cur financial
crime and sanctions business standard and breaches of our Code of Conduct and supporting frameworks
are dealt with firmly, to reinforce our culture of always acting with integrity.

We have made specific updates to the Code of Conduct, Policy and Business Standard Framework,
Sanctions Framework (primarily to comply with increasing Russian sanctions) and remuneration
framework These changes have further embedded conduct requirements into our mature framework. In
respect of Russian sanctions, we moved quickly to adopt a risk appetite which made clear we would not
conduct business with any Russian entity or person covered by sanctions from the US, UK, EU, or any
country in which we operate. As we have expanded internationally, we have rolled out all frameworks
globally in 2022, including providing international contact numbers for cur Whistleblowing helpline.

The Russian sanctions environment has been very challenging given its dynamic and complex nature.
However, this is also an area where we have had great traction across the business, working with experts in
all our insurance classes and distribution models to analyse the risk of Russian business, and establishing
robust and sophisticated preventative controls and ongoing menitoring. Integrity cannot be ensured from
simply writing a code of conduct, however. One of the main successful changes of 2022 was the further
embedding into functional areas of the framework, so that the Croup's culture of ethical behaviour was
coded into process level controls.
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STRATEGIC REPORT FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2022:

Non-Financial and Sustainability Information Statement

Non-financial key performance indicators ('KPIs)

2022 saw the evolution of our ESG initiative which is split across the five sustainability pillars and related

strategies. Ardonagh’s core non-financial KPls are:

- Integrity {currently being finalised by management)

- Environment {including the number of people trained in carbon literacy and a reduction in Scope 1and
7 carbon emissions);

- People (employee engagement favourable percentage, employee engagerment response rate and
total attrition rate); and

- Community [{total contributions by the Ardonagh Community Trust ((ACT') to registered charities, ACT
Comimunity grants to international causes and projects, and volunteering hours completed by
colleagues).

People KPls for 2022 were favourable with an 81% employee engagement favourable percentage and a 75%
employee engagement response rate. Ardonagh is particularly proud of the ACT, which made £0.55m
contributions to registerad charities in 2UZ2 and targets to maintain annual contributions of at least £0.5m
from 2023-2025.

Further updates to non-financial KPI targets will be set during 2023.

Climate-related financial disclosures

Climate-related risks and opportunities have grown in impaortance for us as an organisation. As a Group of
Insurance intermediaries, understanding and managing risk {especially insurance transfer riskj is at the
heart of what we do, and we recognise that climate change poses material long-term impacts for our
clients, wider stakeholders and therefore ultimately, cur business.

We acknowledge that there are risks posed by ciimate change that could potentially have impacts on our
products, client needs, revenues and costs and we intend to integrate further climate-related
considerations into cur financial planning processes from 2023 onwards. As an insurance intermediary, we
recognise our operations will evolve as climate change influences manifest themselves through changing
business patterns. We continue to seek to optimise our businesses and operations, which includes
identifying and pro-actively managing climate-related opportunities and risks.

Governance

The Group's sustainability governance is underpinned by our sustainability charter and ESC policy and a
clear commitment from the top to align sustainability goals with relevant accountability across the
business. In recent years we have started 1o embed sustainability explicitly throughout the business by
developing an overarching framework to communicate our ebjectives clearly via our established five pillar
sustainability strategy. The strategy outlines our goals and commitments across a range of sustainability
issues that are integral to our business and important to our stakeholders.

We have formed an ESG Steering Committee and ESG Working Group, led by our Group Chair and Group
CEQ respectively, to drive and oversee the sustainability agenda through cur five sustainability pillars and
across the Platforms, each of which is represented by a member of our senior management team. Cur five-
pillar sustainability strategy, focusing on integrity, innovation, people, community and environment, and
endorsed by the Board, aims to foster high standards of ESG practice and deliver long-term sustainability
for all of our stakeholders.

The Group maintains strong Board and Committee oversight at Group, Platform and Segment level,
ensuring the governance and environmental pillars, as part of its sustainability strategy, continues tc be a
strategqic priority.

The Group Board's strategic debates will be set in a climate change context, supperted by pericdic debates
on climate-related risks and opportunities, as well as inviting thought leaders to engage with Board
meetings.
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Strotegy

We recognise that there is strong empirical evidence and scientific consensus that human activities are
causing an increase in global temperatures which, if left unchecked, will have a significant detrimental
global impact. That is why we are elevating sustainability in our business. We are working to build on our
progress to date, be more ambitious and fully embed the principles of sustainable insurance into our
business strategies.

We want to gain a deeper understanding of how climate change might affect the businesses we direct and
oversee, and we outline below planned Group activity that we expect to guide future disclosures. A key
focus is gaining a deeper understanding, so we can better describe and guantify specific impacts across
these areas by looking at different time horizons and climate scenarios.

The Group intends to conduct further analysis in order to present more detailed impact assessments of
climate-related risks across different time horizons. The Croup also intends to strengthen how it
systematically considers climate-related issues from a risk and opportunity perspective across business
segments, strategic decision making and financial planning in order to better describe its impacts.

Risk management

The key industry risks and opportunities related to climate change include:

- physical risks and opportunities resulting from the physical effects of climate change;

— transition risks and opportunities arising from climate change and the transition to a lower-carbon
economy, inctuding changes in customers' insurance product needs and insurable loss patterns; and

- liability risks arising when parties who have suffered losses from climate change seek to recover them
from those they believe may have been responsible, including where insurance may have been insufficient
to cover josses in a changing world.

These risks manifest thermselves through several existing risks already included within our material risk
register, including commercial (underwriting, claims, products, services and distribution), wider market
{legal, regulatory, financial crime), operational (property, facilities, IT, cyber, data, people), strategic and
reputational risks. Geing forwards we will continue to embed our sustainability and climate change risk
managernent initiatives deeper into our businasses

Climate-related considerations are part of cur ¢capital and investrment budgeting, for example through the
investments we have made to reduce the overali greenhouse gas ("GHG") emissions in our estate. The
Group is aware of the long-term benefits these investments can bring, and we intend to further develop
and embed climate-related and broader sustainability processes and considerations into our investment
appraisal appreach.

in addition, performance is assessed externally by ESG agencies, to which our investors (and other
stakeholders) are giving increasing prominence. Our sustainability policies, actions and outcomes coutd
impact upon our debt rating and/or our access to and/or cost of debt and/or equity. In our approach to
acquisitions and divestments the Group will take into ceonsideration any sustainability and climate-related
risks and opportunities to form part of our usual due diligence process.

Going forward, we intend to work towards developing climate change risk scenarios to help inform and
manage our own risk profile and strategic responses.

The Group will continue its robust approach towards the management of operational risk and intends
examining climate impacts in more depth, to better describe transiticn and liability risks. The ambition is
for risk management processes to support the Group in conducting detailed analysis on climate risks and
opportunities.

Metrics and Targets
The Group plans to establish credible targets which will strengthen our disclosures across Scopes 1, 2and 3
CHG emissions and importantly the progress made.
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Environmental matters

Under our environmental capital pillar, we are looking to better understand, manage and monitor our
greenhouse gas emissions (GHG), energy and water use as well as our waste and ecological impact.
Ardonagh recognises a responsibility to the environment and endeavours to reduce its impact in its
business activities.

We are currently developing a comprehensive ESG policy and environmental management programme to
guide our efforts. Significant malertal acguisilions have completed throughout 2022 and early 2025 that
have accelerated the change in our gecgraphic profile from a predominantly UK business to one with a
significant international factprint. This has necessitated a thorough review of our ESG reporting which in
turn has led to a recalibration of our GHC emissions reporting. Ardonagh is committed to making a positive
environmental impact and our planned Net Zero pathway can now be developed, driving carbon reduction
in-line with credible targets for the UK business.

Following the expansion of the Greup our efforts were dedicated to capturing data sets of the entire UK
operations including serviced offices. Scope 3 emissions have been significantly impacted by the inclusion
of business air travel related to recent acquisitions and the impact of covid restrictions lifting. In order 1o
better track our emissions performance, we have introduced the following KPls: Business mileage by air,
road and rail, {millions kms); kWh/SQM office space; as well as location-based intensity ratios (kgCO2e) /
SQM office space; and (tCO2e) /FTE (UK only).
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SECR Report

Emissions (LIK operations)
Scope 1100, ¢)
Scope 2 (tC0O;e)
Scope 3 (00, e)
Toral emissions (t00;e)

Location-based (UK operations)

Scope 1 Location-based (1C0. e}

Scope 2 Location-based {tC0.e}

Total Scope 1 and 2 Location-based (1C0;e}
Scope 3 tocation-based {tC0; e}

Totatl Location-based (1C0,e)

Notes:
Scope 1: natural gas for ali UK operations oniy

2022 2023 2020 2019

318 265 465 506
1814 1,680 1,680 2,480
4,260 943 538 2,131

6,392 3.088 2,683 5,117

318 465 465 506
2,051 1,680 1,680 2,480
2,369 2,145 2,145 2,986
4,260 943 538 2,131
6,629 3,088 1,683 5117

Scope 2: electricity for atl UK operations including direct purchase, 1andiord recharge and service charge
Scope 3; includes business travel {3ir, road, rail, taxi & hotel) and electricity ransmission & distribution

Market-based {UK operations)
Scope 2 market-based (1C0,e)

Property energy consumption (MWh)
Business road miieage (MWh)

Total energy consumption (Mwhj*
Business mileage {air) {million kms)
Business mileage (road) {(million kms)
Business mileage {rail) (mitiion kms)

2022 2021 2020 2019
1,814 . - -

12,028 9,736 9,736 12454

2,486 1,916 1,829 5,058

14,498 11,652 11,565 17,512

12.02 - - -
35 - - .
275 - . -

includes Scopes 1 and 2 energy MWh and road business mileage converted to MWh

intensity Ratios

Scape 1 and 2 - tocation-based emissions (kgCO,e} / SAM office
Scope 1 and 2 - location-based emissions (tCO,e} / FTE (UK only
kWh/SOM office space

Total location-based emissions (vC0;e) / FTE (UK only)

87 - - .
0324 0362 0362 0636

. - . .
0907 - - -
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Methodology

Currently all our UK emissions data from energy and travel is measured in carbon dioxide eguivalent (CO2e)
unless atherwise stated. We use the Department for Environment, Food and Rural Affairs' (Defra) latest
factors, that are annually revised, for calculating our emissions.

The Croup reports on sources of Scope 1, 2 and Scope 3 (Business Travel] greenhouse gas emissions where
it has financial control. Data is sourced from all UK platforms operating in England, Scotland, Wales, and
Northern treland Non-UK emissions will be collected in 2023. Material emissions are captured from offices
(serviced office, landlord recharged utilities and direct purchases) and business travel (flights, road, rail,
hotel, and taxi use). Offices and travel booked cutside of the UK do not form part of our SECR disciosures.

The location-based method reflects the average emissions intensity of macro-scale {regional/national)
electricity grids where energy consumption occurs. All electricity consumption by the Group that occurred
in the UK is multiplied by the UK average grid electricity emission factor for the reporting year to calculate
the emissions. The market-based method reflects the emissions from the electricity that a company is
purchasing (first circulated for 2022).

Business model

As a leading insurance intermediary, our businesses deliver value adding professional services between
clients and insurance and reinsurance companies. We help facilitate the necessary solutions that best suit
our clients’ needs and charge commissions and advisory fees for our services. We work with insurers to
design, price and administer insurance-related products and services that meet a wide variety of market
demands, without assuming any underwriting or principal risk in refation to any of the services or products
that we provide. We offer a highly diversified proposition with a broad portfolio of insurance-related
preducts and services across the full imsurance value chain, to customers ranging from complex
multinational corporations to individuals purchasing personal insurance pcolicies to meet specialist needs.
Further information on cur business model is included in the explanation of the Principal activities and
business review in the Strategic Report above on page 5.

Principal risks

The Board is responsible for ensuring that the Croup has in place well-established systems and ways of
working to ensure that there is proper consideration of new potential risks. See the explanation of the
Croup's principal risks and uncertainties in the Corporate Governance Report on pages 26 to 30.
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The Platforms (Ardonagh Advisory, Ardonagh Retail, Ardonagh Specialty and Ardonagh International)
explained in the Principal Activities and Business Review above and this Corporate Covernance Report are
the operating segments included in note 5. Within each Platform, there are several Segments. In section
of this report, when management refer to Segments it is not a reference to the operating segments
reported in section 2 of this report including note 5.

Ardonagh’s Covernance Framework and organisation structure supports effective decision making,
rigorous oversight of performance and risks to support our strategic delivery and our values, and operates
as follows:

Tara Topco Limited Board (“Tara Board"}

Tara Topco Limited is the ultimate holding company that owns the Ardonagh Midco 2 Group and other
assets in the Insurance and financial services sector. The Tara Board delegates authority from the
shareholders to the Ardonagh Midco 2 Group Boards and approves material acquisitions and disposals.

The Group Board

The Group Board is ultimately accountable for the success of the CGroup for the benefit of its sharehclders
as a whole and setting Risk Appetite and frameworks of effective risk management and control. It sets
strategic priorities, including the securement of debt and equity and the deployment of capital and, in
doing so, it has regard to its stakeholder responsibilities including colleagues, investors, custormers,
suppliers, regulators and the cormmunities in which the Group operates.

The Group Board delegates authority to the CEO who, through his Executive Committee, ensures that the
collective vision, policies, culture and behaviour set by the Board are effectively communicated and
embedded. Delegation from Group Beard to Platform and Segment Boards and to individuals across the
Ardonagh Midco 2 Group is set out in the Ardonagh Accountability Framework The Croup Board has
devolved powers set out in the Group Delegated Authority Framework to empower the Boards of our
Platforms and Segment businesses across the Croup to discharge detailed oversight and challenge over
business performance and the management of risk and take investment decisions within shareholder
approved limits.

Group Board Committees

The Croup Board has delegated specific responsibilities to two standing Board Committees, the Audit
Committee and the Remuneration & Nominations Committee, in order to consider and provide oversight
over certain matters as set out below. Each Committee has its terms of reference and a forward planning
agenda which are reviewed and approved on an annual basis. The Greup Board approves the Group's risk
appetite and has delegated oversight over risk management to the Platforms. The Croup Board and Audit
Committee receives regular risk and compliance update reports from the Croup CRO, including any
material risk escalations.

The current Group Board and Standing Committees are detailed in the table below together with their
composition and frequency of meetings in 2022.

2022
Group Board and Committees Meetings | Board and Committee Members during 2022

John Tiner {Chair), Pat Butler, Martyn Scrivens, David

G . ) )
roup Board 7 Ross, Diane Cougill, Vahe Dombalagian and Scot French

Audit Committee 4 Martyn Scrivens (Chair), Patrick Butler and Scot French

Remuneration & Nominations

. 1 John Tiner {Chair), Vahe Dombalagian and Scot French
Committee
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Audit Committee

The Croup Board is satisfied that the Committee has adequate recent and refevant financial and business
experience to fulfil its responsibilities. The Committee periodically meets with the Group Head of Internal
Audit and the External Auditor without management present.

Remuneration & Nominations Committee

The Chief Executive Officer, Chief Financial Officer and the Head of Reward attend Remuneration
Committee meetings, however Lhey du nol allend where their individual remuneration 1s discussed, and
no Directer is involved in deciding their own remuneration.

Platforms and Segments

Cur businesses are organised into the following Platforms: Ardonagh Retail, Ardonagh Speciaity, Ardonagh
Advisory and Ardonagh International. Qur Piatform Boards set their respective Platform risk appetite within
the overall Group risk appetite, agree strategy and annual/mulii-year plans. The Platform or Segment
Boards, through their Audit and / or Risk Committees, ensure robust oversight over financial and operating
risk management and systems of internal control, including cormpliance with prudential and other
regulatory rutes. The Committees review and approve the Platform internal audit and compliance work
plans and receive regular reports fror these function heads, The Platform Boards also approve acguisitions
and disposals, set integration/synergy plans and recommend investments over a set limit te the Group and
Tara Board for approval. Each of cur Platform Boards have censtituted a Remuneration Committee to
approve matters delegated to thermn by the Graup Remuneration Committes and recommend matters that
require approval by the Group Remuneration & Norninations Committee. The compasition of our UK
Platform Boards is comprised of at least two independent directars {three in respect to Ardonagh Retaii).

Within each Platform, there are several Segments subject to separate oversight by Segment Boards. For
example, within Advisory there are separate Segment boards for the MGA and the Broking activities.

The Platform and Segment Beards and their Committees operate within clearly defined delegated
authorities set out in the Group Delegated Authority Framework and also within a clear escalation policy
that ensures material matters are escalated on a timely basis.

Two-way dialogue between the Greup, Platform and Segment Boards and Committees are key to the
effectivensss of the Ardonagh Governance Framework. Ardonagh-wide meetings of the independent non-
executive directors across the Group and Platforms are held, with events hosted pericdically by the Group
Chairman. In addition, the Group Chairman and Group independent non-executive directors attend
Platform Board and Committee meetings on a rolling basis. All independent non-executive directors have
scheduled ad-hoc meetings with members of senior management to ensure they have deep and ocngoing
knowledge of the business and the markets in which they operate.

Application of the Wates Principles and Section 172(1) Statement

The Directors take seriously their obligations under 5172 (1) (a}-{f) of the Companies Act 2006 ('s.172 Duties”)
to actin away they consider, in good faith, would be the most likely to promote the success of the Company
for the benefit of its members as a whole consistent with s172 Duties.

Below is an explanation of how the Board has fully applied the Wates Principles and, taken together,
discharged its Section 172{1) Duties.
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Principle 1 - an effective board develops and promotes the purpose of a company, and ensures that its
values, strategy, and culture align with that purpose.

The purpose of the Ardonagh Midco 2 Group is to maintain and grow its position as a leading multi-channel,
dgiversified platform that delivers world class products and services to meet customer needs. This purpose
is supported by the Croup’s strategy, values and culture.

The Group and Platform Boards consider and approve a refreshed business plan each year that reflects the
growth ambitions of the Group. The Ardonagh Midce 2 Croup's values form part of the Ardonagh Code of
Conduct which sets cut expectations in respect to fair treatment of our customers and colleagues, and
standards of professional integrity and personal performance. The Code of Conduct is supported by
mandatory training and financial incentive arrangements that are subject to assessments of conduct and
behaviour and employze engagement. The Boards also censider annual reviews of compliance with the
Croup remuneration policy to ensure incentives are aligned with cur values and support the right conduct
and behaviours. The Group Board considers and approves the annual Modern Slavery statement that is alse
subject to review by Platform Boards.

Principle 2 - Effective board compasition requires an effective chair and a balance of skifls, backgrounds,
experience and knowledge.

The role of Chair and CEQ on the Group Board are separated, and the Chairman was considered
independent on appointment.

Independent non-executive directors meet with management on a regular basis to discuss issues and
progressagainst agreed actions. All Board Directors are expected te have the time te commit to adequately
fulfil their responsibilities and are expected to complete online training on legal and compliance topics.

All mewly appointed Directors to the Group, Platforrm and Segment Boards are provided with a
comprehensive and bespoke induction programme aimed at familiarisation with the Ardonagh Midco 2
Group and focus on the challenges, opportunities and risks being faced by the business.

Principle 3~ The board and individual directors should have a clear understanding of their accountabiiity
and responsibilities. The board’s policies and procedures shouid support effective decision-making and
independent challenge

The Croup Board has delegated day-to-day management of the Group to the CEO and the CEO has
delegated authority tc approve specific issues to Group and Platform management, subject to limits. In
turn, the Platform CEQs and CFOs have delegated authority to their Segment counterparts. The Ardonagh
Accountability Framework evidences individual accountability under the FCA's Senior Managers and
Certification Regime or its [nternational equivalent, as appropriate. The Accountability Framework is
suppoerted by Group Policies and Business Standards that set out the key controls and procedures to
mitigate risks, including appropriate training, role profiles and an annual attestation process.

The Group and Platform Boards and Committees are supplied with regular, comprehensive, and timely
information in a form and gquality that enables them to discharge their duties effectively. There is a
procedure in place for Directors to take independent professional advice in the course of their duties, if they
Judge this to be necessary, at the Ardonagh Midco 2 Croup's expense.

The Board has put in place procedures to resolve situations where a director has a conflict of interest and
Directors have continuing obligations to update the Board on any changes to their disclosed conflicts. A
record of actual and potential conflicts of interest is maintained by the Group Company Secretary and is
subject to an annual review and attestation by each Director.

Principle 4 - A board should promote the long-term sustainable success of the company by identifying
opportunities to create and preserve value and establishing oversight for the identification and mitigation
of risks.

The Group and Platform Boards consider plans for creating sustainable growth over the long-term. This
includes growth through acquiring trade books and businesses. The M&A and Integration Framework airms
to ensure the Croup maximises equity value in a controlled manner whilst balancing the need for our
businesses to maintain their entrepreneurial and opportunistic approach.
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The Croup Board has developed an Enterprise-wide Risk Management approach that applies to all parts of
the Ardonagh Midco 2 Croup. The key pillars of this approach are the Risk Framework, Conduct Risk
Framework, Risk Appetite, Group Policies and Business Standards {(which set out key controls) and the
Ardonagh Accountability Framework, These frameworks form the Ardonagh Accountability, Risk &
Compliance Framework (ARC). The ARC airms to ensure that the interests of customers and their fair
treatment is embedded in our decision making, our compliance with laws and regulations, and that cur
key controls are consistently applied whilst being fiexible to enable our businesses to tailor them to their
speciic circumstances and markets.

The Group and Platform Boards set and annually review risk appetite and our Boards and Risk Committees
exercise oversight and challenge over performance against risk appetite and cyber risk metrics. There is a
clear policy which articulates the type and severity of risk events that require escalation.

Cur Boards are responsible for ensuring that management maintains a system of internal control, which
provides assurance over the effectiveness of operations, internal financial contrels and compliance with
laws and regulations. The Group and Platform Boards and their Committees recewve inforrmation that helps
them oversee the culture and conduct within each business.

Principle 5 — A board should promote executive remuneration structures aligned to the long-term
sustainable success of a company, taking into account pay and conditions efsewhere in the company.

The Board seeks to ensure that remuneration is competitive, transparent and linked to individual, team and
business performance. The Group Remuneration Policy ensures that our remuneration structures support
our strategy by:
» Promoting sound and effective risk management through clear objective setting (that is
meonitcred and measured).
» Using balanced scorecards for senior managers that include a range of financial and non-financial
measures and are aligned with the Croup’s long-term strategic plans.
e Incorporating non-financial measures including compliance behaviours and good customer
cutcomes,
» Adopting sales schemes designed to incentivise the right compliance and customer outcome
behaviours.
¢ Role benchmarking, calibration within and across businesses within the Ardonagh Midco Z Croup
by the Group Head of Reward and oversight exercised by the Group and Platform Remuneration
Committees.
= Promoting diversity and inclusion.

Employee salaries are reviewed annually, and salary reviews consider individual performance, Group
perfarmance and the underlying business environment.

Remuneration strategies are expected to be devised with reference to issues identified in the Croup gender
pay gap report and our desire to promote Diversity and Inclusion. Management has taken a series of
Mmeasures including:
e Croup-wide executive coaching and peer support programme for women leaders to encourage
career progress, focus and accountability
e Croupwide training and representation via dedicated forums has been rolled out.
e Policies such as recruitment and succession planning that supports diversity and inclusion.

The Employee Group Plan is an eguity scheme that recegnises the wider contribution of emplayees,
identifying key talent and future leaders within the Group. The plan extends to a wide cross-section of our
people and has created a more diverse group both in terms of age and gender, that now hold Ardonagh
equity and participate in the creation of equity value growth.

Principle 6 — Directors should foster effective stakeholder refationships aligned to the company’s purpose.
The board is responsible for overseeing rmeaningful engogement with stakeholders, including the
workforce, and having regard to their views when taking decisions.
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Below is an explanation of how the Board engages with its stakeholders and how their views inform Beoard
decisicn making.

Shareholders aond Bondholders

Ongoing engagement with our bondholders is primarily exercised through the use of investor
presentations and quarterly bondholder calls, which include a Q&A session with the Group CEC and CFO.
Their views and debt market sentiment are discussed at Group Board meetings. Qur two main
shareholders, MDP and HPS, have representatives on the Group Board who articulate thelr views during
Board discussions.

Employees

Our employees are central to the success of the Ardonagh Midco 2 Group and the remuneration structures
across Ardonagh are designed to reward goced performance at the individual and business level and
support our values. In addition, our businesses focus on providing long-term career prospects for staff with
opportunities to up-skill through training, providing career progression paths and study support and, if
appropriate, moverment across different Ardonagh businesses.

The Group has in place an Equality and Diversity Palicy and the Board believes that equality, diversity and
inclusion strengthen the Group, contribute to long-term business performance, and support the Group in
attracting key talent. Our Platform boards have taken time to consider management actions and initiatives
regarding diversity and inclusion, and they support and monitor management acuons to increase the
proportion of senior leadership roles held by women and other under-represented groups across Ardonagh.

An annual Croupwide employee pulse survey has been conducted since 2019 in addition to pulse surveys
conducted by some of our businesses. 6,602 or 75% of all employees participated in the 2022 puise survey.
The Croup achieved an average score of 7.5 (out of 10) across ali gquestions, with positive trends across the
Group regarding creating a sense of belonging and purpose, fostering cultures of inclusion and respect,
and building strong team and line manager relationships. Ardonagh-wide, the survey highlighted that
thereis also work to do on recognition and inter-department/brand collaboration. Actions to address issues
highlighted by the survey are agreed on a Platform-by-Platforr basis, recognising each of their unique
challenges, and these are reviewed by the Croup and Platform Boards.

Customers

Seeking good customer outcomes is central to the success of the business. Management continues to seek
customer views and improve how we track our customers' perceptions of our businesses and bring the
voice of our customers into Board and Committee reporting. Our products and services are periodically
reviewed to ensure they continue to meet the needs of cur customers.

In response to the cost-of-living crisis, management has reviewed and enhanced how we support our
vulnerable customers, including dedicated call lines staffed by colleagues who have received specific
training and given tools and soluticns to help cur customers.

in preparation for the new UK Customer Duty launched by the FCA, ocur UK Segment Boards have each
selected an independent non-executive director 1o act as a Customer Champion who regularly meets with
managemeant to discuss and challenge performance against customer related metrics and helps facilitate
the voice of the customer to be heard in the Boardroom.

Regulatory refationships

The Board prioritises positive, open and transparent engagement with all our regulatory relationships. Our
Boards and Risk Committees receive regular updates on regulatory interactions and new regulatory rules
and guidance and how they impact our businesses. We participate in thematic reviews and believe that
strong regulatory relationships are a source of competitive advantage

insurers

Qur insurance partners are fundamental to the success of the business. Senior leaders regularly meet with
key insurance partners, supported by increasingly sophisticated data, 1o discuss performance and ways in
which we can continue to meet customers' needs.
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Qur Suppliers

Management aims to treat all our suppliers fairly and to pay them in accordance with contractual terms.
Our key suppliers are defined by the Group Outsourcing and Procurement Policy which ensuresthat all key
suppliers are identified and subject to appropriate monitoring and engagement. Management ensures
appropriate due diligence is performed on key suppliers before they are engaged. We reguire that our
suppliers have £ESU and modern slavery policies that are at least as stringent as our own.

Community

Ardonagh contributes to the communities in which we operate through an Ardonagh Charitable Trust
called the Ardonagh Community Trust (ACT), which is an independent registered charity. Further details on
how we interact with communities are set cut in the above Non-Financial and Sustainability Information
Statement.

Case Study in considering stakeholders in decision making.
Qur UK Platferm Boards considered the new UK Consumer Duty rules and how they will impact our
businesses and our stakeholders, as outlined out below:

Our Boards

The Platform Boards considered and approved management's implementation plans to ensure
compliance with the new Consumer Duty rules by the regulatory deadline. The Boards received training
and each chose an independent non-executive director to undertake the role of Consumer Duty champion
on the Board (who also each received additional briefings and training to ensure they can effectively
discharge their role). The Boards will receive regular reporting from management to evidence that
products and services comply with the new Consumer Duty.

Colleagues
Our Boards received assurances that relevant staff will receive training on the new Consumer Duty rules
and regular communications are sent out to staff to ensure awareness of the new rules and support the
embedding of the Consumer Duty requirements. Our Boards regularly consider the culture within our
businesses and ensure risk frameworks and remuneration pclicies help drive the right conduct and
behaviours.

Customers

Qur customers are at the heart of our decision making and our Boards considered how the businesses will
ensure ‘gocd custemer outcomes’ will be achieved and evidenced and how the business treats vulnerable
customers. Qur Boards have tasked management to buiid new metrics and reporting to enable compliance
with the new rules tec be measuraed and monitored. Management is also seeking ways to enhance customer
communications in light of the new rules, and these enhancements will be subject to Board oversight and
challenge.

insurers

Our Boards seek to ensure that management utilise our existing Group-wide insurer relationships to
improve capacity and/or terms tc better meet the needs of cur customers. Cur Boards considered how the
business will work with our insurer partners in order to comply with the new Consumer Duty rules, in
particular how ‘fair value’ assessments will be conducted.

Regulatory

Our Boards discharge oversight and challenge to ensure the business complies with regulatory deadlines
set out in the new Consumer Duty rules. In addition, our Risk Committees consider interactions with the
FCA to ensure our regulatery relationship is constructive, transparent and cooperative.

Sharehofders
The Group Board regularly updates our main shareholders on progress and the impact of compliance with
the new Consumer Duty rules on the business.
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Risk Management Framework and risk appetite

In pursuing its business objectives, The Ardonagh Midco 2 Croup is exposed to a range of risks. As part of its
overall governance and contrel arrangements the Groudp operates a Risk Management Framework
designed to identify, assess, manage, monitor and report on these risks.

The Group's risk appetite is an expression of the amount and type of risk that it iswilling to accept to achieve
its strategic objectives Risk appetiteisset by the Board and is reviewed by the Group Audit Committee and
the Board on at least an annual basis. Each Platform of the Croup also has its own risk appetites, approved
and reviewed by Platform Boards, which cannot exceed the Croup appetite (individually or in aggregate).
Through the Risk Management Framework these governance bodies gain assurance that risks are being
appropriately identified and managed within the parameters that have been set. Each area of risk has a
Senior Management owner responsible for managing the risk within appetite and ensuring that the
controls designed to keep risks within appetite are appropriate as explained below under the Ardonagh
Midco 2 Group Governance Framewaork.

Three lines of defence model

Risk management across The Ardonagh Midco 2 Group is underpinned by the application of a three lines
of defence governance model. The first line sits in the business and is responsible for identifying and
managing all material risks. The second line is made up of Segment, Platform and Group Risk and
Compliance resource and provides challenge, guidance and support to the business on the first line risk
assessment. The third line is delivered by CGroup Internal Audit, which independently assesses the
effectiveness of the internal centrols, governance and risk management,

Covernance

Boards and Committees operate at a 'Segment’ and 'Platform’ level within our trading Divisions. The Group
Audit Cormmittee is chaired by an independent Non-Executive Director and reports relevant matters to the
Group Board. Action plans to reduce risks that are approaching or out of appetite are monitored for
effectiveness and timely completion. Escalation routes exist such that any material matters can be brought
to the attention of Directors of the Group without delay.

Group Audit Committee
and other Committees responsible for risk oversight, including
Group Nomination Committee and Group Remuneration Committee

3rd Line of Defence
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Group Executive Group Risk & Compliance Group Internal Audit

Platform Executive with Platform Risk & Compliance Group internal Audit and
Executive Committees {i.e. Compliance Assurance} Platform Audit Committees

Escalation of material matters at any time

Divisions

Segment Executive and Segment Risk & Compliance,
Executive Committees and Segment Risk Committees

Group Internal Audit
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Principal risks and uncertainties

The Group faces a broad range of risks and uncertainties that are described in more detail in this section.

Additional risks and uncertainties not currently known to us, or that we currently consider immaterial, may
also materially and adversely affect our businass or operations

Risk

Description

Decline in economic
conditions

The BReard's strategy is heavily focused on the achievement of lona-term
sustainable growth through a diversified business portfolio, and the Board believes
that this is the most effective way of mitigating the risk of a general decline in
economic conditions. Arcdonagh is highly diversified and not materially expesed to
a single carrier, customer, or market sector. Accordingly, management does not
expect increased global political tensions {including those related to the Ukrainian
conflict, which we are monitoring and responding tc appropriately} to have a
significant effect on the Group.

Over 40% of the Group's income arises in the Specialty (which arranges insurance
for global clients) and International Platforms, thereby diversifying the Group away
from the UK compared to past years. Although most of the Group's revenue is in
GBP and thus not subject to foreign currency exposure, the Specialty Platform has
significant USD revenues that are a natural offset against the interest costs on the
Group's USD borrowings (see "Foreign currency risk and interest rate risk” below).

The Group has sufficient liquidity to withstand a period of potential poor trading
resulting from a sustained economic decline, although this has not materialised to
date and the Group would respond to income declines by seeking cost savings.

The Group's significant UK presence through its Retail and Advisory Platforms
exposes it to a downturn in UK business and customer confidence, including due
to increased inflation and interest rates. Nevertheless, insurance broking has
typically been resilient to past economic and capital market downturns because
insurance is often a non-discretionary purchase, so dermand is expected to be less
volatile than other sectors. Most recently, this was the case during the Covid-19
restrictions in the UK.

Energy costs do not form a significant proportion of the Group's cost base and thus
global energy price increases do not have significant direct impact on the Group.
Increases in costs driven by wage inflation are more relevant to the Group, but
remuneration is determined by management and thus within its control, albeit in
the context of the ongoing need te retain staff by continuing to provide attractive
remuneration packages. Cost increases are also mitigated by revenue increases,
including those that result from the impact of inflation in driving higher claims
costs that lead to insurers charging higher premiums and consegquently results in
higher commissions for the Greup.

Insurance market
volatility

Volatility or declines in premiums, as well as declines in commission rates, may
seriously undermine cur business anc results of operations.

We derive most of our revenue from commissions and fees for underwriting and
broking services. Our commissions are generally based on insurance premiums,
which are cyclical in nature and may vary widely based on market conditions, A
significant reduction in commissions, along with general volatility or declines in
premiumes, could have a significant adverse effect on our business.

On a longer time-horizon, the insurance markets might be disrupted by new
technologies, “open finance” or new distribution structures, which may give rise to
both risks and cpportunities for the Group.

Breach of regulatory
requirements

If we fzil to comply with regulatory requirements, we may not be able to conduct
our business or may be subject to substantial fines or other sanctions that may
have an adverse effect on cur results of operations and financial condition. The
Group operates a robust risk and control framework (underpinned by the three
lines of defence governance model set out on above) and closely monitors changes
to the regulatory environment.

206



CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT: YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2022
Principal risks and uncertainties

Risk

Description

Changes to regulatory
environment

Our business has a significant UK presence, and our UK businesses are regulated
by the Financial Conduct Authority (FCA). The FCA rules have a conduct and
customer focus but also impose mMinimum capital and liguidity requirerments on
the Group. In 2022, further changes to the UK regulation of general insurance have
taken effect, notably in relation to: pricing and value, operational resilience and a
duty to achieve good outcomes for consumers. We have a strong track record of
managing regulatory change and only regulatory interventions on pricing are
anticipated to have a notable financial implication for the general insurance
market, with this limited to certain lines of consumer business. As all consumer
market participants will be impacted, including the Group's competitors, this is
anticipated to give rise to both risks and opportunities for the Group. Moreover,
outside of our Retail {consumer) segrment, the implications are not significant.

Litigaticn

We are subject to various actual and potential claims, lawsuits and other
proceedings relating principally to alleged errors, omissions or unfair provisions in
connection with the placement of insurance or the provision of financial services
advice in the ordinary course of business.

We maintain professional indemnity insurance for errors and omissicns claims.
Theterms of this insurance vary by policy year and our ability to obtain professional
indemnity insurance in the future may be adversely impacted by general
developrments in the market for such insurance, or by our own claims experience.
If our insurance coverage proves inadequate or unavailable, thereisan increase in
liabilities for which we self-insure (see Provisions note 29 that shows the total
provision held for litigation matters).

Technology — keeping
pace with change

If we are unable to apply technology effectively in driving value for our clients or in
gaining internal efficiencies and effective internal controls, our client relationships,
growth strategy, compliance programmes and operating results could be
adversely affected.

Interruption or loss of our information processing capabiiities through loss of
stored data, the failure of computer equipment or software systems, a
telecommunications failure or other disruption, could have a material adverse
effect. All parts of the Group maintain effective business continuity plans and
capabilities.

Retention and
wellbeing of staff

The loss of several senior management or a significant number of our client-facing
empioyees could have a material adverse effect on our business, The inability to
attract and retain qualified personnel could also have a material adverse effect.
The Croup and its platforms maintain apprepriate performance management,
remuneration, succession planning and other HR policies that are proportionate
for their respective businesses.

Our businesses have also had to respond to the changing nature of ways of
working with the emergence of hybrid or remote working becoming maore
mainstream which has required us to focus on risk management around data,
cyber, capability and wellbeing of employees.

Business Continuity Plans are in place across the Group and its Platforms, which
include policies toc manage employee absences, 10 ensure access 1o the wider
network of offices, to maintain the efficiency and stability of the Group's
infrastructure, and to facilitate home working for a significant portion of our
employee base. Leadership tearns and working groups led by senior managers are
N place to support wellbeing of colleagues and operational resilience.
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Risk

Description

Relationships with key
suppliers, including
outsource partners
and insurers / other
insurance
intermediaries

The Group constantly reviews its activities and engages with specialists to
improve delivery to its clients and increase efficiencies. This can result in
outsourcing certain functions and such transitions are managed by robust
gavernance with senior management oversight. During the final quarter of 2020,
Ardonagh Specialty entered a 10-year arrangement with a business process
outsourcing services specialist to deliver a technology led transformation of its
insurance broking services

If third-party brokers and mortgage intermediaries do not provide customers
with competitive levels of service, or if a significant number of them choocse not
to distribute cur products, the level of written premiums we place for customers
may decline.

A withdrawal by insurance companies of underwriting capacity or products in
circumstances where no replacement underwriting capacity or products can be
procured, or an excessive increase in the rates charged by aninsurance company,
would impact our business performance.

Capacity, business performance and distribution are kept under proactive

management by each of the Group's businesses, as appropriate for their
respective operations and needs.

Integration of
acquired businesses

Our selective acquisition strategy exposes us to the risk that we may not be able
to successfully integrate acquired businesses or that acgquisitions may have
liabilities that we are not aware of and may not be as profitable as we may have
expected them to be. Due diligence in advance of an acquisition is thorough,
managed by experienced teams and supported by independent third-party
review where appropriate. Integration is subject to robust project planning,
governance and continucus oversight until the integration plan has been
achieved. This includes, as a minimurm, the adoption of the Ardonagh Risk
Management and Compliance framework for all acquisitions.

Debt and liguidity risk

The Group reguires significant amounts of cash to service its debt, thereby
limiting the availability of funds for working capital, acquisitions, business
opportunities and other general corporate purposes. There is a risk that the
underlying business does not generate sufficient cash to meet the Group's
financial obligations as they fall due. Proceeds from debt are also used te fund the
acceleration of strategic investments, that in turn support future generation of
cash for reinvestment.

Consistent with the changes to the Ardonagh Governance Framework that has
placed the oversight and delivery of Platform strategies to the Platform Beards,
formaslised amounts of interest-bearing debt have been allocated to the
Piatforms from the Corporate segment. This aligns to the Platforms overseeing
prudential and financial risk and debt related metrics.

The Group has an active cash management process. The Group Treasury function,
in conjunction with the Platform finance and treasury teams, undertakes cash
flow forecasting and closely monitors and manages the Group's cash balances.
Immediate liquidity is available from the committed revolving credit facility
(£191.5m available at 31 December 2022) and the undrawn component of the
newly secured B5 CAR Facility ($182.5m available as at the reporting date) should
any short-term financing be required.

The Group actively monitors debt markets to assess additional borrowings and
the refinancing of existing borrowings in conjunction with its overall business
strategy, including M&A. The Group's borrowings do not mature before 2026 at
the earliest.

Counterparty risk

We have a significant amount of trade accounts receivatle from some of the
insurance companies with which we place insurance. if those insurance
companies experience liquidity problems or other financial difficulties, we could
encounter delays or defaults in payments owed to us. Counterparty balances are
monitored as part of the credit control process. Significant balances are actively
managed through our on-going strategic insurer relationship programme.
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Risk

Description

Cyber Security and
Data Protection

Our computer systems process and store information about our custormers and
employees, some of which is sensitive personal data. Although we have taken
reasonable and appropriate security measures to prevent unauthorised access to
information stored in our systems and to ensure that our processing of personal
cdata complies with the General Data Protection Regulations {GDPR) and other
relevant data privacy requirements in jurisdictions, as appropriate, our technology
may, on occasion, fail to adeguately secure the private information we maintain in
our systems databases and protect it from theft or inadvertent loss during the
course of normal operations. Our people, processes and systems, and the wider
public IT infrastructure they rely on, may alse be subject to cyber-attack, again
potentially resulting in theft of data, preventing data or systems use and/for
disrupting business operations.

The Group has robust policies, business standards and contral frameworks in
place for both cyber security and data protection. In addition, a group-wide Cyber
Resilience Strategy continues to be in place, with all major business areas of the
Group maintaining related cyber remediation roadmaps (with a particular focus
on related IT control environments) where reqguired, to manage risks associated
with the evolving business strategy and modei, and the dynamic threat landscape
it faces. These strategies and plans look to continually review and enhance the
maturity and capability of cytber and information security processes and controls
across the Group.

Appropriate mechanisms have also been embedded to help effectively report,
track and manage cyber risk and the related controls environment across the
Group. In addition, the Group has continued to invest significantly in building and
maintaining capable security resources (within Group Functions) to provide
appropriate group-wide governance, oversight and security SME services and
support.

The Group continues to have a cyber insurance policy in place to mitigate financial
risks associated with material data breaches and cyber-attacks.

Foreign currency risk
and interest rate risk

The Group is exposed to foreign currency risk and interest rate risk from its
borrowings, and to foreign currency risk from its revenues and costs, which it
mitigates as follows:

. Borrowings:
Our debt comprises borrowings in CBR, USD, EUR ang AUD as set outin the
Liquidity and capital resources overview included in Section 1 above, with the
majority being in GBP, thus limiting the Group's foreign currency exposure.
Following the international diversification, the Group has increased USD and
EUR investments and revenues that are natural hedges to the debt profile.

As at the reporting date, £1,057.9m (constituting 32%) of Group debt at 31
December is at fixed interest rates for the next 3 years.

Subseguent to the reporting date, the Group entered into further interest rate
swaps that exchanged floating for fixed interest rates on EUR 450m
borrowings, GBP 250m borrowings, and on USD 150m borrowings.

Additionally, the Group models its future interest payments on its GBP (£),
USD ($) and EUR (€) privately placed term facilities due 2026 and the USD PIK
toggle notes due 2027, using forward FX and interest rates, and the Group has
sufficient liguidity to meet these forecast payments. Each 1% increase or
reduction in SONIA and EURIBOR rates (see Borrowings note 27) will, subject
to 0.75% SONIA and 1.00% EURIBOR floors and on an annualised basis,
increase/decrease interest paid in 2023 by £23m. At year end, the Group holds
£269.6m of available cash {excluding £489m of TC2.4 VREQ restricted cash),
which combined with a fully undrawn RCF facility, results in a total liguidity of
£4€1.5m, and it closely monitors available liquidity on an ongoing basis.
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Risk

Description

Foreign currency risk
and interest rate risk

Revenue:

A significant proportion of the Group's revenue is generated in non-GBP
currencies, predominantly USD, EUR, AUS and CAD and therefore subject to
foreign currency exposure. The Group's operationai costs are predominantly
GBP and EUR, resulting in a significant proportion of cash generated from
operating activities in USD that can be used to meet USD interest payments
if not hedged to GBP. Approximately 44% of Fy 2022 USD cash generated
frem operating activities was hedged to GBP at an average rate of ¢irca 135,
with this proportion increasing over the next two years.

by

D Cougill
Director

30 June 2023

The strategic report on pages 510 18 was approved by the Board and signed on 30 June 2023 its behalf
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STATEMENT OF DIRECTORS' RESPONSIBILITIES

The Directors are responsible for preparing the Annual Report and parent company financial statements in
accordance with applicable law and regulations.

Company law requires the Directors to prepare financial statements for each financiai period. Under that
law the Directors are required 1o prepare the Group financial statements in accordance with UK-adopted
international accounting standards and applicable UK law The Directers have also chosen to prepare the
Parent Company financial statements in accordance with United Kingdam Cenerally Accepted Accournting
Practice (United Kingdom Accounting Standards and applicable law), including Financial Reporting
Standard (FRS) 101 Reduced Disclosure Framework. Under company law, the Directors must not approve
the financial statements uniess they are satisfied that they give a true and fair view of the state of affairs of
the Company and of the profit or loss of the Company for that period.

In preparing the parent company financial staterments, the Directors are required to:
* select suitable accounting policies and then apply them consistentiy;
« make judgerments and accounting estimates that are reasonable and prudent;
s state whether applicable UK Accounting Standards have been followed, subject t© any material
departures disclosed and expiained in the financial staterments;
« prepare the financial staterments on the going concern basis unless it is inappropriate to presume
that the Company will continue in business.

In preparing the Group financial statements, International Accounting Standard 1 requires that Directors:

+ properly select and apply accounting policies;

= present information, including accounting policies, In a manner that provides relevant, reliable,
comparable and understandable information;

+ provide additional disclosures when compliance with the specific requirements in IFRSs are
insufficient to enable users to understand the iImpact of particular transactions, other events and
conditions on the entity's financial position and financial performance;

¢« make an assessment of the Company’s ability to continue as a going concern.

The Directors are responsible for keeping adequate accounting records that are sufficient to show and
explain the Company'stransactions and disciose with reasenable accuracy at any time the financial position
of the Company and enable them to ensure that the financial staterments comply with the Companies Act
2006.

Theyare also responsible for safeguarding the assets of the Company and hence for taking reasonable steps
for the prevention and detection of fraud and other irregularities,

The Directors are responsible for the maintenance and integrity of the corporate and financial information
included on the Company's website.

Legislation in the United Kingdom governing the preparation and dissermination of financial statements
may differ from legislation in other jurisdiction.
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SECTION 2

ARDONAGCH MIDCO 2 PLC

AUDITED CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2022
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT TO THE MEMBERS OF ARDONAGH
MIDCO 2 PLC

Report on the audit of the financial statements

1. Opinion
In our opinion:
+ the financial statements of Ardonagh Midco 2 Plc (the ‘parent company’) and its subsidiaries (the

‘group’) give a true and fair view of the state of the group’s and of the parent company’s affairs as at 31
December 2022 and of the group's loss for the year then ended;

s the group financial statements have been properly prepared in accordance with United Kingdom
adopted international accounting standards;

s the parent company financial statements have been properly prepared in accordance with United
Kingdom Generally Accepted Accounting Practice, including Financial Reporting Standard 101

“Reduced Disclosure Framework”; and

s the financial statements have been prepared in accordance with the requirements of the Companies
Act 2006.

We have audited the financial statements which comprise:

the consolidated statement of profit and loss and other comprehensive income;

the consolidated and parent company statements of financial position;

the consolidated and parent company statements of changes in equity;

the consolidated statement of cash flows; and

the refated notes 1 to 35 to the consolidated financial statements and 1 te 13 to the parent
campany financial statements,

The financial reporting framewark that has been applied in the preparation of the group financial
statements is applicable law, and United Kingdom adopted international accounting standards. The
financial reporting framework that has been applied in the preparation of the parent ccmpany financial
statements is applicable law and United Kingdom Accounting Standards, including FRS 101 “Reduced
Disclosure Framework” (United Kingdom Generally Accepted Accounting Practice).

e & @

2. Basis for opinion

We conducted our audit in accordance with International Standards on Auditing (UK} (1SAs (UK)) and
applicable law. Qur responsibilities under those standards are further described in the auditcer's
responsibilities for the audit of the financial statements section of our report.

We are independent of the group and the parent company in accordance with the ethical requirements
that are relevant to our audit of the financial statements in the UK, including the Financial Reporting
Council's (the ‘FRC’s’) Ethical Standard as applied to listed entities, and we have fulfilled our other ethical
responsibilities in accordance with these requirements.

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for
our opinion.
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MIDCO 2 PLC

Report on the audit of the financial statements

3. Summary of our audit approach

Key audil rnailers

The key audibinallers Lhal we identified in the current pericd were:

. Acquisition accounting under IFRS 3 Business Combinations — Ed 8roking Group Limited, Besso
Insurance Group Limited

. Presentation of Alternative Performance Measures ("APMs’); and

. Goodwill impairment.

Materiality

The materiality that we used for the group financial statements was £9m which was determined on the basis
of 0.76% of revenue.

Scoping

Scoping coverage included 7 components subject to full scope audits and a further 17 subject to the audit of
specified account balances. These scoped in entities represent 77% of revenue and 73% of insurance
debtors.

Significant changes in cur
approach

In the current year, we no longer consider the following as key audit matters:

. Going concern was removed as a key audit matter following improvement in the group’s
operating profit and an improved liquidity position.

. We re-visited our risk assessment on revenue recognition in the group and no longer consider the
risk associated with the acquisition of Swinton to be a key audit matter.

. The Preference share issue: classification as debt or equity was a one-off event in 2021 and is not
applicable in 2022.

4. Conclusions relating to going concern
In auditing the financial statements, we have concluded that the directors’ use of the going concern basis
of accounting in the preparation of the financial statements is appropriate.

Qur evaluation of the directors’ assessment of the group and the parent company’s ability to continue to
adopt the going concern basis of accounting included:

*  Gained an understanding of management’s process and controls for performing the going concern

assessment.

» Challenged key assumptions underpinning cash flow forecasts, the stresses applied and the reverse
stress test by performing an analysis and comparison of actual performance versus prior period going
concern forecasts to assess management’s ability to forecast.

» Performed a sensitivity analyses over management’s forecasts for interest rate volatility and inflation
to assess the appropriatness of the headroom.

* nspected correspondence between the group and its regulators.
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+ Performed an analysis of the group’s financial performance in the first five months after the balance
sheet date.

s Assessed financial statement disclosures in respect of going concern for transparency and inclusion of
all facts and circumstances of which we are aware through the performance of the audit work.

Based on the work we have performed, we have not identified any material uncertainties refating to
events or conditions that, individually or collectively, may cast significant doubt on the group's and parent
company’s ability to continue as a going concern for a period of at least twelve months from when the
financial statements are authorised for issue.

Our responsibilities and the responsibilities of the directors with respect to going concern are described in
the relevant sections of this report.

5. Key audit matters

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional judgement, were of most significance in cur
audit of the financial statements of the current period and include the most significant assessed risks of
material misstatement (whether or not due to fraud) that we identified. These matters included those
which had the greatest effect on: the overal! audit strategy, the allocation of resources in the audit; and
directing the efforts of the engagement team.

These matters were addressed in the context of our audit of the financial statements as a whole, and in
forming our opinion therean, and we do not provide a separate opinion on these matters.

5.1 Acquisition accounting under |FRS 3 Business combinotions — Ed Broking Group Limited, Besso
Insurance Group Limited

Key audit matter description On 1 November 2021 the group acquired the entire issued share capital of Ed Broking Groug Limited and
Besso lnsurance Group Limited (“Ed, Besso”). This transaction constituted a business combination under
IFRS 3 Business cormbinatians, and resulted in the recognition of £250m of goodwill and £ 130m separately
acquired intangible assets.

Management engaged a third-party expert to perform an independent far value assessment of the acquired
intangible assets at the valuation date and perform the Purchase Price Allocation {“PPA”) for financial
reporting purposes. Management had 12 months from the date of acquisition to finalise the acquisition
accounting. This pericd elapsed during 2022 and the numbers reported 1n respect of this acquisition are
final.

Transactions that constitute a business combination under IFRS 3 must be accounted for by applying the
acquisition method, so that the assets and ligbilities assumed are recognised by the acquirer at their
acquisition-date fair values. Key steps in the acquisition method that were completed during the year were:

. Recognition and measurement of the assets acquired and hiabiities assumed; and

. Recognitton and measurement of goodwill.

The Ed, Besso acquisition 1s considered a key audit matter due to the scale of the transaction, the complexity
of accounting due to the PPA approach, and the impact of these on the financial statements.

Refer to Note 11 to the financial statements (Intang ble assats).
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How the scope of our audit
responded to the key atdit
matter

We have obtained an understanding of the relevant controls over management’s process for acquisition
accounting.

In addition, we performed the foliowing audit procedures:

. Assessed management’s projections, forecasts and accounting assumptions including the impact of a
high inflation environment an the underlying cash flow assumptions, used in the fair value analysis.

e  Testad the completeness and accuracy of data inputs used In the valuation of goodwill and intangible
assets.

. Involved our valuation specialists in assessing the reasonableness of the key valuation assumptions and
whether the valuation assumpbons are consistent with what market participants would use in pricing
the item.

Key abservations

We are satisfied that the acauisition accounting under IFRS 3 Business combinations for Ed Broking Group
Limited and Besso Insurance Group Limited is appropriate.

5.2 Presentation of Alternative Performance Measures (APMs)

Key audit matter description

Adjusted EBITDA 1s a key metric that management use to assess the quality of the group’s earnings.
Management removes adjusting items {“ltems excluded from Adjusted EBITDA"], being significant
acquisitron and disposal refated items and other costs associated with the ongoing transformation of the
group. Pro formas are presented as if the significant acquisition and disposal related transactions occurred
on the first day of the comparative period.

The group reports a Loss for the period of £280.8m, an EBITDA of £265.8m and Adjusted EBITDA of
£373.4m in the Annual Report.

This measure and other such non-GAAP measures used are Alternative Performance Measures ("APMSs”). An
APM 15 defined by European Securitres and Markets Authority {"ESMA”) as “a financial measure of historical

or future performance, financizal position, or cash flows, other than a financial measure defined cr specified

in the applicable financial reporting framework {e.g. UK adopted IFRS) applied by the entity”.

The group defines adjusting items in the Glossary in Section 3 of the Annual Report. A risk exists that these
adjusting items are not consistently applied across the group. In addition, there s a risk that these adjusting
items are not clearly disclosed in note 5 and that undue prominence is given to APMs compared to the
statutory results of the group within the financial statements.

Refer to section 1 of the Annual Report (Performance review) and section 3 of the Annual Report (Other
unaudited financial information).
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How the scope of our  We have obtained an understanding of the relevant controls over management’s
audit responded to the process for APMs,
key audit matter In addition, we performed the following procedures:
* Tested a sample of items excluded from Adjusted EBITDA to assess consistency
with the group’s published definition and policies for these items;

* Tested the accuracy of a sample of underlying expenses excluded from
Adjusted EBITDA to invaices or other supporting evidence;

+  Assessed whether the use of APMs in the group’s financial statements is
consistent with the guidelines produced by regulators;

= Assessed whether there is appropriate balance between the use of statutory
metrics, Adjusted EBITDA and cther Pro Forma metrics, together with clear
definitions and reconciliations within the Annual Report;

*  Assessed the prominence given to Adjusted ERBITDA and other Pro Forma
metrics relative to the group’s statutory results; and

¢ Considered whether Adjusted EBITDA and other Pro Forma metrics were
consistently applied in the current period’s financial statements.

Key observations We considered that the group’s use and presentation of Alternative Performance
Measures was acceptable and consistently applied.
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5.3 Goodwill impairment

Key audit matier description Goodwill arising on business combinations 1s a significant asset on the balance sheet of the group £2,027m
{2021: £1,620m)}. Gooadwill increased significantly during 2022 following signiicant acquisitions including
that of Ed Broking Group Limited and Besso Insurance Group Limited.

As required by IAS 36 Impairment of Assets, goodwill 1s tested for impairment at least annually.

During 2022 the group continued to momtor goodwill at the division level as this remained the lowest level
of aggregation of cash generating units within the group at which goodwill could be monitored for
management purposes. Determining whether goodwill is impaired requires an estimation of the recoverable
amount of each division, using the higher of value in use ("VIU”) and fair value less costs to dispose
{"FVLCD").

The VIU amount is subjective and calculated using an impairment madel underpinned by key assumptions
including forecast cash flows, discount rates and long-term growth rates.

Management use a VIU approach to assess the recoverable amount of all divisions. A headroom calculation
1s performed as the amount of calculated VIV above the carrying value of the division. Divisions with less
head room are at greater risk of impairment where the impairment model 1s sensitive to key assumptions.

Management performed this assessment and cancluded an impairment of £41m was reguired in the MGA
division after the higher of value in use {“ViU”) and fair value less costs to dispose (“FVLCD") calcutated was
less than the carrying amount of goodwill allocated to this division.

Refer to Note 4 to the financial statements (Key sources of estimation uncertainty) and Note 11 to the
financial statements (Intangible assets).

How the scope of our audit We have gained an understanding of management’s process for perferming the annual impairment test and
responded 10 the key audit obtained an understanding of relevant controls.
matter

In addition, we performed the following audit procedures:
. challenged management’s CGU assessment through assessing the level at which cash inflows are
generated and the level at which gocdwill 1s monitored;

. challenged the assumptions used in the annual impairment review, in particular forecast growth rates
applied to each of the divisions within the five year business plan through assessing segment strategies
and planned business development;

. tested the accuracy of the calculations behind management’s impairment model;

e« performed an assessment of actual FY 2022 cash flows against prior period forecasts to assess the
accuracy of management’s forecasting; and

* involved our valuation specialists to assess and challenge the discount rate used.
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Key observations

We agree with management’s conclusion that an impairment is required to the goodwill allocated to the
MGA division as of the date of the impairment exercise.

The forecasts used 1n the annual iImpairment exercise were consistent with the most recent financial

forecasts approved by the Board.

Key assumptions including discount rates and growth rates used within business forecasts are reasonable.

6. Our application of materiality

6.1 Materiality
We define materiality as the magnitude of misstatement in the financial statements that makes it probable
that the economic decisions of a reasonably knowledgeable person would be changed or influenced. We
use materiality both in planning the scope of our audit work and in evaluating the resuits of our work.

Based on our professional judgement, we determined materiality for the financial statements as a whole

as follows:

Group financial statemenis Farent company financial statements
Materiality £9m (2021: £9m} £8.1m {2021: £8.1m)
Basis for 0.76% of commission and fees {2021: 0.99% of 0.79% of Parent company net assets (2021: 0.78% of
determining commission and fees) Parent company net assets). We apply a materiality cap
materiality for the parent company to be lower than the group at

90%. (2021: S0%)

Rationale for the
benchmark
applied

Commission and fees was determined to be the key driver
since it 1s the key metric for a number of the users of the
financial statements. It 15 the best metric to show the
growth of the group and is also the metric given the
highest prominence in the strategic report.

Net assets was determined tc be the matenality
benchmark given the activities of the company. A non-
trading holding company with principal activities being to
hold intercompany subordinatec debt and investment in
subsidiaries.
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Gronp Moteriality
£9m

Commission and
fees £1,118m

Component materiality range
£2.2mto 3.0m.

N vera—

reporting threshoid
£0.45m

= Commission and
fees
w Group materiality

6.2 Performance materiality

We set performance materiality at a level lower than materiality to reduce the probability that, in
aggregate, uncorrected and undetected misstatements exceed the materiality for the financial statements
as a whole.

Group financial statements Parent company financial statements
Perfor‘m?nce 60% (2021: 60%) of group materiality 60% (2021: 60%]) of parent company
materiality materiality
Basis and In determining performance materiality, we considered our risk assessment which included

rationale for our assessment of the group’s overall control environment. The group is still growing
determining quickly and has a developing control environment, as such we decided to not rely on
performance centrols over a number of business processes and instead ¢onduct a substantive audit,
materiality

6.3 Error reporting threshold

We agreed with the Audit Committee that we would report to the Committee all audit differences in
excess of £0.45m (2021 £0.45m), as well as differences below that threshold that, in our view, warranted
reporting on qualitative grounds. We also report to the Audit Committee on disclosure matters that we
identified when assessing the overall presentation of the financial statements.
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7 An overview of the scope of our Audit

7.1 Identification and scoping of components

Qur group audit was scoped by obtaining an understanding of the group and its environment, including
group-wide controls, and assessing the risks of material misstatement at the group level.

Given the number of components and operating locations within the group, we assessed the extent of
audit work required to be performed to give appropriate coverage for the purposes of the group financial
statement audit. Qur approach considered revenue contribution to the group result as a primary measure
of financial significance and scope, and insurance debtors as a secondary balance sheet measure given the
significance of the insurance debtors balance to the operational activities of wider group. Coverage
obtained cn this basis was 77% of revenue (2021: 82%) and 73% of insurance debtors.

Of the group’s 24 significant components, 7 were subjected to full scope audits of the financial information
of the companent and 17 subjected to an audit of one or more account balances, classes of transactions or
disclosures. Audits were performed at levels of materiality lower than group materiality with a range of
£2.2mto £3.0m.

Those subjected to an audit of one or more account balances, classes of transactions or disclosures are not
individually financiaily significant enough to require full scope audit of the financial information of the
component for group purposes, but did present specific areas of risk which needed to be addressed.

At the group level we also tested the consolidation process and carried out analytical procedures to
confirm our conclusion that there were no significant risks of material misstatement of the aggregated
financial information of the remaining components not subject to a full audit.

ommission and fee insurance Debtors

Full audit scope - Full audit scope

= Specified audit procedures = Specified audit procedures
- Review at group level - Review at group level
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7.2 Our consideration of the control environment

We obtained an understanding of the control environment, including the significant underlying IT systems.
We planned not to rely on the general IT controls or application controls, as the group is still growing
guickly and has a developing control environment. We obtained an understanding of the relevant controls
relating to the financial reporting environment and the major revenue streams.

7.3 Qur consideration of climate-related risks

As part of the audit, we made enqguiries of management to understand the process they have adopted to
assess the potential impact of climate change on the financial statements. Management considers that the
impact of ¢climate change does nct give rise to a material financial staternent impact. We used our
knowledge of the Group to evaluate management'’s assessment. We also considered the consistency of
the disclosures in relation to climate change made in the other infarmation within the annual report with
the financial statements and our knowledge from our audit.

7.4 Working with other auditors

Work on Arachas Corporate Brokers (Ireland) was subject to a full scope audit and Glennon (ireland),
Resilium {Australia), MDS (Brazil) and MDS {Portugal) were subject to specified audit procedures. This was
undertaken by Deloitte overseas component audit teams.

We directed and supervised the component teams in the performance of their work through providing
detailed instructions setting out the work to be performed, having regular conference calls with the team
throughout the audit and by performing a review of their audit working papers over a video conference.

8 Other information

The other information comprises the information included in the annual report, other than the financial
statements and our auditor’s report thereon. The directors are responsible for the other information
contained within the annual report.

Our opinion on the financial staterments does not cover the other information and, except to the extent
otherwise explicitly stated in our report, we do not express any form of assurance conclusion thereon.
Cur responsibility is to read the other information and, in doing so, consider whether the other
information is materially inconsistent with the financial statements or our knowledge obtained in the
course of the audit, or otherwise appears to be materially misstated.

if we identify such material inconsistencies or apparent material misstatements, we are required to
determine whether this gives rise to a material misstatement in the financial statements themselves. If,
based on the work we have performed, we conclude that there is a material misstatement of this other
information, we are required to report that fact.

We have nothing to report in this regard.
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9 Responsibilities of directors

As explained more fully in the directors’ respensibilities statement, the directors are responsible for the
preparation of the financial statements and for being satisfied that they give a true and fair view, and for
such internal control as the directors determine is necessary to enable the preparation of financial
statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the financial statements, the directors are responsible for assessing the group’s and the
parent company’s ability to continue as a going concern, disclosing as applicable, matters related to going
concern and using the going concern basis of accounting unless the directors either intend to liquidate the
group or the parent company or to cease operations, or have no realistic alternative but to do so.

10 Auditor’s responsibilities for the audit of the financial statements

Cur objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements as a whole are
free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s report that
includes our opinion. Reasanable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an
audit conducted in accordance with 1SAs {UK) will always detect a material misstatement when it exists.
Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered material if, individually or in the
aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions of users taken on the
basis of these financial statements.

A further description of our responsibilities for the audit of the financial statements is located on the FRC's
website at: www .frc.org.uk/auditorsresponsisilities. This description forms part of our auditor’s report.

11 Extent to which the audit was considered capable of detecting irregularities,
including fraud

Irregularities, including fraud, are instances of non-compliance with laws and regulations. We design
procedures in line with our responsibilities, outlined above, to detect material misstatements in respect of
irregularities, including fraud. The extent to which our procedures are capable of detecting irregularities,
including fraud is detailed below.

11.1  Identifying and assessing potential risks related to irregularities
In identifying and assessing risks of material misstatement in respect of irregularities, including fraud and
nan-campliance with laws and regulations, we considered the following:

« the nature of the industry and sector, control environment and business performance including
the design of the group’s remuneraticn policies, key drivers for directors’ remuneration, bonus

levels and perfermance targets;

e results of our enquiries of management and the audit committee about their own identification
and assessment of the risks of irregularities;
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s any matters we identified having obtained and reviewed the group’s documentation of their
policies and procedures relating to:

o identifying, evaluating and complying with laws and regulations and whether they were aware
of any instances of non-compliance;

o detecting and responding to the risks of fraud and whether they have knowledge of any
actual, suspected or alleged fraud;

o theinternal controls established to mitigate risks of fraud or non-compliance with laws and
regulations;

e the matters discussed among the audit engagement team including significant component audit
teams and relevant internal specialists, including tax, valuations, IT, and industry specialists
regarding how and where fraud might occur in the financial statements and any potential
indicators of fraud.

As a result of these procedures, we considered the opportunities and incentives that may exist within the
organisation for fraud and identified the greatest potential for fraud in the following areas: goodwill
impairment, acquisition accounting under IFRS 3 business combinations — Ed Broking Group Limited, Besso
Insurance Group Limited, presentation of alternative performance measures and revenue recognition -
cut off in Specialty division. In common with all audits under ISAs (UK), we are also reguired to perform
specific procedures to respond to the risk of management override.

We also obtained an understanding of the legal and regulatory framework that the group operates in,
focusing on provisions of those laws and regulations that had a direct effect on the determination of
material amounts and disclosures in the financial statements. The key laws and regulations we considered
in this context included the UK Companies Act.

In addition, we considered provisicns of other laws and regulations that do not have a direct effect on the
financial statements but compliance with which may be fundamental to the group’s ability to operate or to
avoid a material penalty. These included the group’s FCA permissions and compliance with FCA client
assets regulations.

11.2  Audit response to risks identified

As a result of performing the above, we identified acquisition accounting under IFRS 3 business
comhinations — Ed Broking Group Limited, Besso Insurance Group Limited, presentation of alternative
performance measures, and goodwill impairment as key audit matters related to the potential risk of fraud.
The key audit matters section of our report explains the matters in more detail and also describes the
specific procedures we performed in response to those key audit matters.
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In addition to the above, our procedures to respond to risks identified included the following:

e reviewing the financial statement disclosures and testing to supporting documentaticn to assess
compliance with provisions of relevant laws and regulations described as having a direct effect on
the financial statements;

e enquiring of management, the audit committee and in-house legal counsel concerning actual and
potential litigation and claims;

* performing analytical procedures to identify any unusual or unexpected relationships that may
indicate risks of material misstatement due to fraud;

e reading minutes of meetings of those charged with governance, reviewing internal audit reports
and reviewing correspondence with the FCA;

e in relation to the cut off risk in Specialty division revenue: we analysed the divisional vs budget
performance throughout the year, comparing to market expectations to identify any significant
differences on the basis of known rate inflation across the market. We also obtained the
December 2022 and January 2023 revenue listings and assessed whether revenue was correctly
being recognised in each period.

e in addressing the risk of fraud through management override of controls, testing the
appropriateness of journal entries and other adjustments; assessing whether the judgements
made in making accounting estimates are indicative of a potential bias; and evaluating the
business rationale of any significant transactions that are unusual or outside the normatl course of
business.

We also communicated relevant identified laws and regulations and potential fraud risks to all
engagement team members including internal specialists and significant component audit teams, and
remained alert to any indications of fraud or non-compliance with laws and regulations throughout the
audit.

Report on other legal and regulatory requirements

12 Opinions on other matters prescribed by the Companies Act 2006

In our opinion, based on the work undertaken in the course of the audit:

e the information given in the strategic report and the directors’ report for the period for which the
financial statements are prepared is consistent with the financial statements; and

s the strategic report and the directors’ report have been prepared in accordance with applicable legal
requirements.
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13 Matters on which we are required to report by exception

13.1  Adequacy of explanations received and accounting records
Under the Companies Act 2006 we are required to report to you if, in our opinion:

» we have not received ail the information and explanations we require for our audit; or

s adequate accounting records have not been kept by the parent company, or returns adequate for
our audit have not been received from branches not visited by us; or

e the parent company financial statements are not in agreement with the accounting records and
returns.

We have nothing to report in respect of these matters.

13.2  Directors’ remuneration
Under the Companies Act 2006 we are alsc required to report if in our opinion certain disclosures of
directors’ remuneration have not been made.

We have nothing to report in respect of this matter.

14 Use of our report

This report is made solely to the company’s members, as a body, in accordance with Chapter 3 of Part
16 of the Companies Act 2006. Our audit work has been undertaken so that we might state to the
company’s members those matters we are required to state to them in an auditor’s report and for no
other purpose. To the fullest extent permitted by law, we do not accept or assume respensibility to
anyone other than the company and the company’s members as a body, for our audit work, for this
report, or for the opinions we have formed.

Stuart Mclaren {Senior statutory auditor)
For and on behalf of Deloitte LLP
Statutory Auditor

London, UK

30 June 2023
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF PROFIT OR LOSS AND OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME

FORTHE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2022

31 December

31 December

2022 2021
Note £000 £000
Commission and fees 5 1,184,663 915,445
Other income 5 28,404 24,929
Salaries and associated costs 8 (600,293} [446,709)
Other operating costs 5 (354,065} (264,862)
Impgairment cf financial assets 5 (7.242) 10,066)
Depreciation, amortisation and impairment
of non-financial assets 5 (175,756} M7,447)
Share of profit from joint ventures 16 825 1151
Share of (loss)/profit from associates 16 (3) 246
Operating profit 76,533 102,687
Gain on revaluation of associate and Investments - 1972
Finance costs 7 (421,320) (204.546)
Finance income 7 18,974 5461
Dividends 10 -
Loss before tax (325,803) {94,426)
Tax credit 10 44,965 22537
Loss for the year {280,838) {71,889)
Attributable to:
Owners of the parent (280,833) (73,6286)
Non-controlling interests {5) 1,737
Loss for the year [280,838) (71,889)

The notes on pages 55 to 177 form an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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CONSQOLIDATED STATEMENT OF PROFIT OR LOSS AND OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME

FORTHE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2022

31 December

31 December

2022 2021

Note £000 +000
Loss for the year (280,838} (71,889}
Other comprehensive income
ltems that may be reclassified subsequently to profit or
loss:
Exchange differences on translating foreign operations 34,262 1514}
Change in costs of hedging reserve 24 140 3,83]
Change in cash flow hedging reserve 24 53,086 (2,221
Loss on financial assets at fair value through other
comprehensive income - (191
Income tax relating to these items 24 (2,453} (306)
ltems that will hot be reclassified subsequently to profit
or loss:
Remeasurement of net pension obligation (5.449) 1,060
Tax relating to the remeasurement of net pension
obligation 1,749 -
Other comprehensive income/[expense) for the year 81,335 (12,769)
Total comprehensive loss for the year (199,503} {84,658)
Attributable to:
Owners of the parent (199,254) (86,395)
Non-controlling interests (249) 1,737
Total comprehensive loss for the year {199,503} (B4,658)

The notes on pages 55 to 177 form an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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CONSOQLUIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION
AS AT 31 DECEMBER 2022

31 December

(As restated)*
3] Decermnber

2022 2021
Note £000 £000
Non-current assets
Intangible assets 11 2,775,568 2,332,319
Property, plant and equipmeant 12 33,623 29372
Right-of-use assets 13 41,760 42968
Investment in associates and joint ventures 16 6,870 6,365
Financial assets at fair value through other
comprehensive income 23 6,352 7747
Trade and other receivables 18 13572 94 487
Contract gssets 12 4,808 2,689
Cther assets 20 1,028 10,146
Defined benefit pension asset 26 205 6,166
Deferred tax asset 28 33,668 -
Derivatives 24 25,093 173
2,952,547 2,532,432
Current assets
Cash and cash equivalents 17 1,227,310 1,335,315
Trade and other receivables™ 18 898,435 693,697
Derivatives 24 4,225 1,278
Contract assets 12 16,299 15,834
Other assets 20 33325 40246
Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss 23 8 12
Assets held for sale - 146
2,179,602 2,086,528
Current liabilities
Trade and other payables 25 1,619,073) (1,519,506)
Borrowings 27 (146,849) (72,403)
Lease liabilities 13 (17,334} (15,607)
Derivatives 24 (10,042) (47,472)
Contract liabilities 19 (48,107) (44,873)
Provisions 29 (15,701} 12,372}
Current tax liability 28 (10,446) {7,714)
1,867,552) {1,719,947)
Net current assets 312,050 366,581
Non-current liabitities
Trade and other payables 25 {94,179} (74,390}
Borrowings 27 (3,168,228) (2,619,236}
Lease liabilities 13 (33,255) {35,786)
Cerivatives 24 (2,8906) (1936}
Contract liabilities 19 {2,103) (3,782)
Defined benefit pension obligation 26 (8,500) 10,226)
Provisions 29 (15,477} (16,282)
Deferred tax liabilities 28 (51,373) (54,489)
(3.376,011) (2.816,827)
Net {liabilities)/assets (1M, 414) 82,186

*Prior year restatement due to the correction of a share buy-back in a subsidiary entity.



FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

CONSQLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION
AS AT 31 DECEMBER 2022

3) December

{As restated)*
31 December

2022 2021
Note £000 £000

Capital and reserves attributable

to the Group's shareholders

Share capital 30 694,788 694,788
Share premium 344540 344,540
Capital contribution reserve 68,288 60,21
Retained losses* (1,368,221) (1,0735528)
Hedging reserves 46,413 {4,360}
Merger reserve 61,876 61,876
Treasury share reserve {1,572} -
Foreign currency translation reserve 16,124 (18,382)
Shareholders' equity (137,764) 65,145
Non-controlling interest 26,350 17,041
Total equity (1%, 414) 82,186

*Prior year restaterment due to the correction of a share buy-back in a subsidiary entity.

The notes on pages 55 to 177 form an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.

This set of consolidated financial statements was approved by the Board of Directors on 30 June 2023 and

was signed on its behall by:

P s .
| o s
-

D Cougill

Director
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY
FCRTHE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2022

Capital (As restated)*
Share Share contribution Merger Retained
capital premium reserve reserve losses
£000 £000 FOOO £000 £000
A1 January 2022* 694,788 344540 60,211 61,876 (1,073,528)
Loss for the year - - - - (280,833)
Other comprehensive
{expense)/income - - - - (3,700)
694,788 344,540 60,21 61,876 {1,358,061)
Reciassification of loan
notes payable - - 8077 - -
Decrease in MIP shares - - - - (3.875)
NCI on acquisition - - - - -
Distribution to non-
controlling interests - - - - -
Transactions with non-
controlling interest - - - - (7,857}
Settlement of subsidiary
SBP - - - - -
At 31 December 2022 634,788 344540 68,288 61,876 (1,369,793)
Foreign
currency (As restated)* Non- [As restated)*
Hedging translation Total share- controlling Total
reserve reserve  holders' equity interest equity
£000 £000 £000 £000 £000
At T January 2022* {4,360) (18,382) 65145 17,041 82,186
Loss for the year - - (280,833) (5) (280,838}
Other comprehensive
(expense)/income 50,773 34506 81,579 (244) 81335
46,413 16,124 124,109} 16,792 Mm7.317)
Reclassification of loan
notes payable - - 8,077 - 8,077
Decrease in MIP shares - - (3,.875) - (3,875)
NCI on acquisition - - - 9,904 9,904
Distribution to non-
controlling interests - - - (1.032) (1.032)
Transactions with non-
centreliing interest - - (7,857} 686 (7,171}
Settlement of subsidiary
SBP - - - - -
At 31 December 2022 46,413 16,124 N37764) 26,350 (111,414)

“Prior year restatement due to the correction of a share buy-back in 8 subsidiary entity.

See note 30 for details of share capital, note 24 for hedging reserves and note 15 for transactions with non-
controlling interests.
The notes on pages 55 to 177 form an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2021

{As restated)” Capital
Share Share Retained Hedging contribution
capital premium losses reserves reserve
£000 £000 £000 £000 £000
At 1January 202} 688,885 - (933,766} (5,664} 60,21
{Loss)/profit for the pericd - - {73,626) -
Other comprehensive
(Expensel/income - - 1,041 1,304 -
688,885 - 1,006,351) (4,360) 60,21
Share-based payment scheme - - 856 - -
Issue of share capital - 335,000 - - -
Distribution to non-controlling
interests - {300) - -
Transactions with non-
controlling interest 5903 9,540 (66,161) - -
Foreign exchange on non-
controlling interest - - - - -
Settlement of subsidiary SBP* - - (1,572) - -
At 31 December 2021 094,788 344540 (1,073,528) {4,360) 60,211
Foreign
currency (As restated)™® Non- (As restated)”
Merger translation Total share-  controlling Total
reserve reserve holders equity interest equity
£000 £000 £00C0 £000 £000
At1January 2021 61,876 (3,268) (131,726) (2,706} (141,432)
(Loss)/profit for the period - - (73,626) 1,737 (71889}
Other comprehensive
(Expensel/income - {15,114} (12,769} - 12,769)
61876 (18382} (218121 {7,969) (226,090)
Share-based payment scheme - - 850 - 856
Issue of share capital - - 335,000 - 335,000
Distribution to non-controlling
interests - - {300) (543) (B43)
Transactions with non-
controlling interest - - (50,718) 25559 (25159)
Foreign exchange on non-
controlling interest - - - i©) (&)
Settlerment of subsidiary SBP* - - {(1.572) - {1572)
AL 31 December 2021 61876 (18,382} 65145 17,041 B2,186

*Prior year restatement due tc the correction of a share buy-back in a subsidiary entity.

The notes oh pages 55 to 177 form an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS
FORTHE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2022

31 December

31 December

2022 2021
Note £000 £000
Cash flows from operating activities
Net cash inflow frorm operations 21 182,587 c87.781
Finance income and Investment income received 5550 361
Income from associate and joint venture 1,295 1,587
Tax paid (8,023} (4,568)
Settlement of forward contracts (10,322} 3326
Net cash inflow from operating activities 171,087 688,487
Cash flows from investing activities
Acguisition of businesses net of cash acguired (331,137 {312,404)
Purchase of property, plant, eguipment and intangible
assets (37,290) {25,413}
Purchase of financial asset {4,635) (2,357)
Proceeds on disposal of financial asset - 22,750
Deferred consideration received 2,233 1,863
Contingent consideration paid (34,439) (33,729)
Net issue of short-term loans (21,533) (66,210]
Net cash outflow from investing activities [426,795) {422,500)
Cash flows from financing activities
Interest paid on borrowings (181,827) (M7,956)
Repayment of loan notes (17,050) -
Repayment of lease liabilities (18,900} (16,429}
Transactions with non-controlling interests (10,132) 365
Purchase of own shares - {(1975)
Debt transaction costs (12,080) -
Proceeds from borrowings 440,444 ©33,755
Repayment of borrowings (62,764} (3617
Net cash inflow from financing activities 137,691 488,149
Net (decrease)/increase in cash and cash equivalents Mms,on7) 754,136
Cash and cash equivalents at the start of the pericd 7 1,335,315 585637
Effect of moverments in exchange rates on cash held 10,012 {4,458)
Cash and cash equivalents at the end of the period 17 1,227,310 1,335,315

Cash and cash equivalents includes restricted cash (see note 17 for details).

The notes on pages 55 to 177 form an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

1 General inforrmation
Ardonagh Midco 2 Plc {the Company) is a company limited by shares with registered number 10672958. It
is incorporated and domiciled in the UK. The address of its registered office is 2 Minster Court, Mincing

Lane, London, EC3R 7PD. The principal business activities of the Company and its subsidiaries are
described in the Strategic Report.

2 Basis of preparation

The consolidated financial statements comprise the Company and its subsidiaries {the Croup) and have
been prepared in accordance with Internationai Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS) as adopted by the
United Kingdom [(UK-adopted IFRS) and the Companies Act 2006 applicable to companies reporting
under IFRS.

The consoiidated financial statements are presented in pounds sterling (£), being the functional currency
of the company, and in thousands unless otherwise stated.

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared under the historical cost convention, as
modified to use a different measurement basis where necessary 10 comply with or permitted by IFRS.

GCoing concern

The financial staternents of the Croup set out on pages 48 to 54 have been prepared on the basis that the
Croup is a going concern. At 31 December 2022, the Group had net liabilities of £171.4m (2021: net assets of
£82.2m {restated)} and net current assets of £312.0m (2021 £366.6m (restated)}. The Group reported an
operating profit of £76.5m (2021: £102.7m) for the year ended 31 Decemper 2022, net cash inflows from
operating activities of £171.1m (2021: £688.5m), net decrease/{increase) in cash and cash equivalents of
EN8.0m (2021 £754.1m). Available cash of £263.6m (2021: £411.3m) was reported on 31 December 2022,

The Directors have assessed the Group's financial position and its ability to meet its obligations as and
when they fail due. In making the going concern assessment the Directors have taken inte account the
following:

s The Croup's capital structure, operations and liquidity.

e Base case and stressed cash flow forecasts over the calendar years 2023 and 2024.

= Theimpact onthe base case and stressed cashflow forecasts arising frem material acguisitions and
capital injections subsequent to year end.

e The principal risks facing the Group. and its systems of risk management and internal control.

e The Group's capital management, among other things, aims tc ensure that it meets financial
covenants attached to its interest-bearing lcans and borrowings. There have teen no breaches of
the financial covenants of any interest-bearing loans and borrowing in the reporting period.

* Pestyear-end operating results and cashflows of the Group continue to be positive,

Key assumptions that the Directors have reflected in the base case cash flow forecasts include that:

* The Croup will continue to benefit from a £191.5m Revolving Credit Facility that is not drawn at the
date of this repert.

e Client retention and renewal rates remain robust, despite the current econormic uncertainty, as the
2022 trading performance continues to demonstrate resilience across the Group.

* Interest costs are modelled using current forward interest and FX rates (other than where interest
rates on debt have been fixed through interest rate swaps).
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

2 Basis of preparation (continued)

Key stress scenarios that the Directors have considered include cumulative stresses to the base plan as a
result of:
e Shortfalls in base case projected income throughout 2023 and 2024.
Detericration in base case cash conversion rates over and above the shortfallsin income.
An inflationary cost increase of 2% over the base case assumptions.
Additional interest costs on the term and CAR debt facilities based on forward interest rate
expectations.
s Mitigating actions within management control including delayed capita!l expenditure, a reduction
in discretionary spend and measured reductions in employee headcount and remuneration.

The Directors have also modeiled reverse stress scenarios, including assessing those that resultin a default
on the Group's term debt facilities that would require a technical repayment obligation and those that
would exhaust available liquidity. The stresses needed for these outcomes to happen significantly exceed
the key stress scenarios above and the Directors consider such conditions to be a remote possibifity. Other
mitigations which may be possible in the stress scenarios but have not been included in the analysis
include seeking shareholder support, securitising premium receivables and further incremental and more
prolonged cost reductions.

The Directors continue to consider the wider operational and financial consequences and ramifications of
global political and economic tensions {(including related to the Ukrainian conflict, foreign exchange rates,
inflation and increasing interest rates). In particular:

* Insurance brokingis a resilient and defensive market, which has historically had limited impact from
past economic or capital market downturns. The Group is highly diversified and not unduly exposed
10 a single carrier, customer ar market sector.

e Although economic developments remain fluid, the stress testing demonstrates the Group’s
financial resilience and operating flexibility.

s As a result of Russia invading Ukraine, we have seen significant new sanctions legislation frem a
range of legisiators (inciuding the US, EU and UK}, with newly sanctioned entities and individuals,
and new (or wider in scope) sectoral sanctions targeting Russia (and Belarus). The Ardonagh Group
nas no appetite for potential breaches of applicable sanctions regimes and applies appropriate
controls including autcmated screening of clients against relevant sanctions lists. We continue to
actively monitor the situation as it develops and will respond accordingly as new sanctions are
enacted.

e The Group continues to menitor the risk of cyber-attacks, but the Group has not identified any
significant security risks during the period ended 31 December 2022,

Following the assessment of the Croup's financial position and its ability to meet its obligaticns as and
when theyfall dus, including the further potential financial implications of economic uncertainty included
in stress tests, the Directors are not aware of any material uncertainties that cast significant doubt on the
Croup's ability to continue as a going concern.
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3 Accounting policies

The summary of significant accounting policies adopted by the Group for the consolidated financial
staterments are listed below and include new standards effective from 8 December 202 as described in
‘New standards, amendments and interpretations adopted by the Group’ {section (g) below).

(a) Basis of consclidation

The Group consclidates those investees that it is deemed to control, referred to as subsidiaries. The CGroup
has control over an investee if all three of the following are met: {i) it has power over the investee, (ii) it is
exposed te, or has rights to, variable returns from its involverment with the investee, and {iii] it has ability to
use its power over the investee to affect the amount of its own returns, The existence and effect of potential
voting rights that are currently exercisable or convertible are considered when assessing whether the
Croup controls another entity.

Subsidiaries are consolidated from the date on which control is transferred to the Croup. The assets,
iiabilities, profits and lesses of the subsidiary are added line by line to those of the Group.

Intercompany transactions, balances and unrealised gains and losses on transactions between Group
companies are eliminated.

Accounting policies of subsidiaries have been changed where necessary to ensure consistency with the
policies adopted by the Croup.

Accounting for business combinations

The Croup uses the acquisition method of accounting to account for business combinations. The
consideration transferred for the acquisition of a subsidiary is the fair value of the assets transferred, the
liabilities assumed, and the equity interests issued by the Group. The consideration transferred includes
the fair value of any asset or liability resulting from a contingent censideration arrangement. Identifiable
assets acquired, and liabilities and contingent liabllities assumed, in a business combination are measured
initially at their fair values at the acquisition date. The Group does not recognise a contingent asset at the
acquisition date. The Croup recognises any non-controifing interest in the acquiree at the non-controlling
Interest’s proporticnate share of the acquiree’s net assets.

Acauisition-related costs, except costs to issue debt or equity securities, are expensed as incurred.

If a business combination is achieved in stages, the acquirer's previously held equity interest in the
acquiree is re-measured to fair value at the acguisition date through profit or less.

Some acquisitions invelve a put and/or call option. A put option gives the seller the right to require the
Group to acquire its shareholdings in the acquiree at a future date. A call option gives the Group the right
to require the seller to sell its shareholdings in the acquiree 1o the Croup. The put and/or call options are
usually exercisable within specified time periods. The exercise price of the options is usuaily based on a
multiple of EBITDA, net of the net debt of the acquiree for the financial year that immediately precedes
the financial year in which the option is exercised. The Croup recognises a financial liability where thereis
a put option, at an amount corresponding to the present value of the option price (the redemption
amount}, and that liability is classified as ‘Share buyout' in the financial statements.

Subsequent changss to the fair value of deferred consideration, contingent consideration or the share
buyout balance are recognised in accordance with IFRS 9 'Financial Instruments’ in profit or loss, unless
the changes occur during the ‘measurement period’ of up to one year following the acquisition date and
are the result of aaditional information that the acquirer has obtained after the acquisition date about
facts and circumstances that existed at the acquisition date. Contingent consideration that is classified as
eguity is not re-measured, and its subsequent settlement is accounted for within equity.
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3 Accounting policies {continued)

Disposal of subsidiaries

Where the Group disposes of its controlling interest in a subsidiary, the assets and liabilities are
derecognised along with any related non-controlling interest and other components of equity. Any
resulting gain or loss is recognised in profit or loss. Any interest retained in the former subsidiary is
measured at fair value when control is lost,

Coodwil]

Goodwill is initially measured as the excess of the fair value of the consideration transferred and of the
non-controlling interest aver the fair value of the net of the identifiable assets acquired and liabilities
assumed. If goodwill is negative (i.e. a shortfall instead of an excess), it is recognised in profit or loss.

Coodwill acquired in the period represents expected synergies from combining cperations of the acquiree
and the Group, and intangible assets that do not gualify for separate recognition.

Coodwill is tested annually for impairment and is carried at cost less accurmulated impairment losses.
Gains and losses on the disposal of an entity include the carrying amount of goodwill relating to the entity
sold. CGoodwill is allocated to cash generating units for the purposes of impairment testing.

Transactions with non-controlling interests
Transactions with non-controlling interests that do not result in the loss of control are accountad for as
equity transactions.

(b} Investments in associates and jeint ventures

Associates

An associate is an entity over which the Group has significant influence and that is neither a subsidiary nar
an interest in a joint arrangement. Significant influence is the power to participate in the financial and
operating policy decisions of the investee but is not control nor joint control over those policies.

Theresults and assets and liabilities of associates are incorporated in the consclidated financial statements
as a single line in each of the staterment of financial position and the statement of profit or loss using the
equity method of accounting. The consolidated statement of financial position therefore includes
investment In associatés measured at cost as adjusted for post-acquisition changes in the Group's
economic share of the net assets of the associate, less any impairment in the value of the investment, but
the carrying amount cannot fall below zero The consolidated income statement includes a share of the
profit or loss of the associate.

Joint arrangements

The Group applies [FRS 1 ‘Joint Arrangements to all joint arrangements. Investments in joint
arrangements are, as required by IFRS 11, classified as either joint operations or jeint ventures, depending
on the contractual rights and obligations of each investor. The Croup has assessed the nature of its joint
arrangements and has determined them to be joint ventures. Joint ventures are accounted for using the
eguity method, in a similar manner to associates.
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3 Accounting policies jcontinued)
{c} Intangible assets

Customer relationships
Customer relationship intangible assets are recegnised on a business combination because the acquirer

is able to benefit from selling future new business through existing relationships. Their fair value is
calculated as the sum of the present value of projected cash flows in excess of returns on contributory
assets over the life of the relationship with the customers. These assets are armortised on a straight-line
basis over their estimated useful lives of between 5 and 10 years, which is estimated by reference to the
history of the relationships and levels of attrition.

Distribution network

Distribution network intangible assets are recognised on a business combination because the acquirer is
able to benefit frorm already established distribution channels. Their fair value is calculated as the sum of
the present value of projected future cash flows generated by existing distribution channels. These assets
are amortised on a straight-line basis over their estimated useful lives of 10 years, which is estimated by
reference to the history of the relationships and levels of attrition.

Brand

Brand intangible assets are recognised on a business combination because they are separable or arise
from centractual or other legal rights. Their fair value is calculated as the sum of the present value of
projected royalty payments that would be paid to license the right to use the brand. These assets are
amortised on a straight-line basis over their estimated useful lives of between 1 and 10 years, which
considers the Group's track record of retaining brands and experience of the insurance broking market.

Computer software

Computer scoftware is recognised when purchased separately, when acquired as part of a business
combination, or when internally-generated. The fair value of computer software that is purchased
separately is calculated by reference to the amount paid. The fair value of computer software that is
acguired as part of a business combination is calculated using the depreciated replacement cost or reljef
from royalty approach. The fair value of internally-generated computer software is calculated as described
below. These assets are amortised on a straight-line basis over their estimated useful life of 4 years.

Internally-generated_computer software and assets under_construction {unless acguired ¢cn a business

combination}

Expenditure on research activities is recognised as an expense in the period in which it is incurred.

An internally-generated intangible asset arising from the development of computer software is
recognised if, and only if, all the following conditions have been demonstrated:

. the technical feasibility of completing the asset so that it will be available for use or sale;

. the intention to complete the asset and to use or sell it;

. the ability to use or self the asset;
how the asset will generate future economic benefits;
the availability of adequate technical, financial and other resources to complete the development
and to use or sell the asset; and
. the ability to measure reliably the expenditure attributable to the asset during its developrnent.

The amount initially recognised is the sum of the expenditure incurred from the date when the intangible
asset first meets the recognition criteria listed above and is classified as an asset under construction.
Where no internally-generated intangible asset can be recognised, development expenditure s
recognised in profit or loss in the period in which itisincurred.

Internally-generated intangible assets are not amortised in the period subsequent to initial recognition
but before they are ready for use. Amortisation cornmences when they are ready for use as intended by
management. They are then reported at cost less accumulated amortisation and accumulated
impairment losses, cn the same basis as intangible assets that are acquired separately. Internally-
generated intangible assets are amortised on a straight-line basis over their estimated useful life of 4 years.
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3 Accounting policies (continued)

Intellectual property
Intellectual property assets include a bespoke database and online platform. These assets are amortised
on a straight-line basis over their estimated useful life of 4 years.

Dereccgnition of intangible assets

Anintangible asset is derecognised on dispasal, or when no future economic benefits are expected from
use or disposal. Gains or losses arising from derecognition of an intangible asset, measured as the
difference between the net disposal proceeds and the carrying amount of the asset, are recognised in
profit or loss when the asset is derecognised.

Impairment of gssets

Intangible assets that have an indefinite useful life are not subject to amortisaticn and are tested annually
for impairment. Assets that are subject to amortisation or depreciation are reviewed for impairment at
each statement of financial position date or whenever events or changes in circumstances indicate that
the carrying amount may not be recoverable. An impairment loss is recognised for the amount by which
the asset's carrying amount exceeds its recoverable amount. The recoverable amount is the higher of an
asset's fair value less costs of disposal and value in use. If it is not possible to estimate the recoverable
amount of an individual asset, the recoverable amount of the ‘cash generating unit’ to which the asset
belongs is determined, being the lowest level for which there are separately identifiable cash flows.

Any impairment charges arising from the review of the carrying value of goodwill and intangible assets
are, where material, disclosed separately on the face of the consolidated income staterment.

(d} Depreciation

Assets are stated at their net book value (historical cost less accumulated depreciation). Depreciation is
calculated to write off the cost of such assets on a straight-line basis over their estimated useful lives. At
the reporting date, the Group's principal rates of depreciation were as follows:

Freehold buildings - over 50 years (except integral features which are over 20 years)
Leasehold improvements - over the remaining life of the lease

Furniture and equipment - over 4 years

Computer equipment - over 4 years

Fixtures and fittings - over 4 years

Motor vehicles - Qver 4 years

The assets' residual vatues and useful lives are reviewed, and adjusted if appropriate, at the end of each
reporting period. Property, plant and equipment is derecognised on disposal, or when no future economic
benefits are expected from use or disposal. Cains or losses arising frorm derecognition of property, plant
and equipment, measured as the difference between the net disposal proceeds and the carrying amount
of the asset, are recognised in profit or loss when the asset is derecognised.
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3 Accounting policies {cuntinued)
e edses

The Group accounts for lease and non-lease components In a contract as a singie lease component.

Right-of-use assets
The Group recognises right-of-use assets at the commencement date of the lease (ie the date the

underlying asset 15 avalable tor use). Right-of-use assets are measured at cost, less any accumulated
depreciation and impairment losses, and are adjusted for certain remeasurements of the lease liabilities.
The cost of right-of-use assets includes the amcunt of lease liabilities recognised, initial direct costs
incurred, lease payments made at or before the commencement date of the lease less any lease incentives
received, plus the estimated costs of restoring the underlying asset to the condition reguired by the terms
of the lease. Unless the Group is reascnably certain to obtain ownership of the leased asset at the end of
the lease term, the recognised right-of-use assets are depreciated on a straight-line basis over the shorter
of the estimated useful life and the lease term. Right-of-use assets are subject to impairment.

lLease liabilities

At the commencement date of the lease, the Group recognises lease liabilities measured at the present
value of lease payments to be made over the lease term. The lease payments include fixed payments
{including in-substance fixed payments) less any lease incentives receivable, variable lease payments that
depend on an index or a rate, and amounts expected to be paid under residual value guarantees. The
leas